Seton Hall University eRepository @ Seton Hall

Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses (ETDs)

Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses

Spring 3-17-2016

Exploring Relationships Between School-based Health Clinics and Academic Performance in Elementary School-aged Children

Cynthia Elizabeth Sherwood-Samuel cynthia.samuel@student.shu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarship.shu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Other Medicine and Health Sciences Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Sherwood-Samuel, Cynthia Elizabeth, "Exploring Relationships Between School-based Health Clinics and Academic Performance in Elementary School-aged Children" (2016). *Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses (ETDs)*. 2149. https://scholarship.shu.edu/dissertations/2149

Exploring Relationships Between School-based Health Clinics and

Academic Performance in Elementary School-aged Children

by

Cynthia Elizabeth Sherwood-Samuel

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy Department of Health

and Medical Sciences Seton Hall University

June 2016

@ 2016 Cynthia Elizabeth Sherwood-Samuel

"Exploring School-Based Health Clinics and Improved

Academic Performance"

By

Cynthia Elizabeth Sherwood-Samuel

Dissertation Committee:

Deborah DeLuca, M.S., J.D., Chair Terrence F. Cahill, Ed.D., FACHE Lee Cabell, Ed.D. Marguerite Leuze, DMH, RN

Approved by the Dissertation Compittee:

7/16 Date 156 Date

16 Date

17/16 Date 3

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Health Sciences Seton Hall University 2016

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to everyone who has supported me throughout my academic career and throughout this dissertation process. I am most grateful for your prayers, wisdom, expertise, encouragement, and empowerment. First, to my Lord and Savior Jesus Christ who with His never ending Grace and Mercy blessed me to complete my doctoral journey. To my dear friend Deborah Walker McCall RN, MBA who laid the foundation for this journey by encouraging me to participate in the Minority Nurse Leadership Institute (MNLI), you have been a true friend, and guiding light throughout this journey. To my nurse colleagues Dr. Gloria Boseman and my MNLI mentor Dr. Yvonne Wesley, you always saw the best in me, and encouraged me to dream big, strive, and achieve. You challenged me to look at the big picture and to develop an appreciation for criticism, questions, setbacks, and uncertainty. Because of your nurturing and instruction, like you I am a Ph.D. level nurse.

I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Deborah DeLuca, my chair, and my friend who tirelessly gave of herself academically, personally, and professionally. Dr. Lee Cabell who challenged me to answer questions and to always be able to effectively justify and articulate my responses. To Dr. Cahill, for helping me to understand the importance of engaging in scholarly academic discussions, and how unique ideas evolve out of these meaningful thought provoking discussions. To Dr. Marguerite Leuze who provided much needed advocacy, encouragement, and intervention in navigating through the Newark Public School system to obtain consent to conduct my research, IRB approval, and necessary student academic data. Thank you for taking the time to help me become confident, assertive, and passionate in all that I do as a school nurse. To Mark Roberts CEO of Jewish Renaissance who provided me with time to meet and collect the school based health clinic data for my study.

iv

To my mother, Nadine Sherwood for making me the strong, independent woman I am today. Thank you for your unconditional love, prayers, and support, for always knowing I could achieve any goal I set for myself and for instilling in me the true value of the gift of education. To my children Maegan Elizabeth and David Michael III for being the wind beneath my wings, and for your computer skills that helped transform my thoughts into scholarly work. Thank you for always pushing me to be the best role model I can be for you. I always wanted to make you proud of your Mom. Last, but certainly not least, to my late husband Dr. David Michael Samuel Jr., who started this journey with me but was called from labor to reward much to soon. The pain in losing you, my dear husband, strengthened me to travel this road to finish what I started. With God as my everythng, obstacles were easier to overcome, and all my earthly needs were met. My Heavenly Father provided me Favor, the added strength, and ability to grow with the encouragement and confidence to face any challenges placed in front of me, and to exceed any and all expectations. Thank you Lord for keeping me grounded, for blessing me and my family, and for opening doors of opportunities for me.

"I can do all things through Christ who strengthens me"

Philippians 4:13

Dedication

To my Mom and children—my rock. You loved me through some of the most difficult challenging times and shared my tears. You dusted me off when I fell, prayed with me and for me, and provided comforting words for me to press on to achieve all that I desire, and the support to be successful in all that I do. You are the reason I came this far by faith. You always saw something greater in me. Early on, you identified with and shared my desire and passion for school health, and advocating for under-served under-privileged children. You knew early on that I wanted to be their voice for a fair deserving chance at a sound education that leads to better healthier options in life. For all that you are, and have done for me, I will humbly strive to go above and beyond in all that I do, with the hopes of doing greater things as an accomplished school nurse director, and a respected trusted role model for others. Without you, your love, support, and guidance, none of this would have ever come to fruition, and for that, I am eternally grateful.

Dr. Mom

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	iv
Dedication	vi
List of Tables	ix
List of Figures	X
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Theoretical Frames	2
Problem Statement	3
Purpose of the Study	4
Significance of the Study	6
Research Questions	7
Hypotheses	8
Ethical Concerns, Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	10
Summary	. 11
CHAPTER 2. I ITERATURE REVIEW	14
Introduction	11
Problems with Access to Healthcare	14
Theoretical Framework	17
Operational Definitions	20
Benefits of SBHCs	23
Gaps in the Literature	40
Conclusion	41
	12
CHAPTER 5: METHODS	. 43
Research Design	43
Research Questions	45
Rypomeses	. 40
Population	. 40
Data Collection	50
Data Analysis	52
External and internal validity	33
Summary	54
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	. 57
Research Questions and Hypotheses	. 57
Description of the Sample	. 60

Tests of Normality	
Results of the Statistical Tests	
Summary	77
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION	
Introduction and Summary	79
Interpretation of the Findings	
Implications of the Findings	
Limitations of the Study	
Recommendations for Future Research	
Summary and Conclusions	
References	
Appendix A: IRB Approval Letter	108
Appendix B: Newark Public Schools Research and Data-Sharing Agreement	110

List of Tables

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics of Continuous Variables	61
Table 2. Frequency Table of Gender	62
Table 3. Frequency Table of Ethnicity	63
Table 4. Frequency Table of SBHC Access	63
Table 5. Frequency Table of Specific SBHC Access	63
Table 6. Chi-square Goodness of Fit Test for Categorical Independent Variables	65
Table 7. Shapiro-Wilk's Test for Normality	66
Table 8. Spearman's Rho Analysis for SBHC Use	67
Table 9. Spearman's Rho Analysis for SBHC Non-Use	67
Table 10. Spearman's Rho Analysis for Physicals vs. Academic Performance	68
Table 11. Spearman's Rho Analysis for Immunizations vs. Academic Performance	68
Table 12. Spearman's Rho Analysis for Mental Health vs. Academic Performance	69
Table 13. SBHC Services vs. Academic Performance – Wilk's Lambda	70
Table 14. SBHC Services vs. Academic Performance – Mixed MANOVA	71
Table 15. Physicals Usage vs. Academic Performance – Wilk's Lambda	72
Table 16. Physicals Usage vs. Academic Performance – Mixed MANOVA	73
Table 17. Immunization vs. Academic Performance – Wilk's Lambda	74
Table 18. Immunization vs. Academic Performance – Mixed MANOVA	75
Table 19. Mental Health vs. Academic Performance – Wilk's Lambda	76
Table 20. Mental Health vs. Academic Performance – Mixed MANOVA	77
Table 21. Results Summary for RQ1 and RQ2	89
Table 22. Results Summary for RQ3 and RQ4	89

List of Figures

Figure 1. Convenience theory 1	8
Figure 2. Health and academic performance theory 2	20
Figure 3. SBHC implementation 2	20
Figure 4. Gaps in the literature	-1
Figure 5. Quantitative, ex-post-facto, causal comparative, retrospective cohort research design.4	.5
Figure 6. Data collection and analysis steps5	1
Figure 7. Descriptive statistics of student cohort	52
Figure 8. Demographic frequency analysis of student cohort	i4
Figure 9. Frequency analysis of SBHC services for student cohort.	i4
Figure 10. Modified conceptual frame9	1
Figure 11. Formulas based on research results	2

ABSTRACT

School based health clinics provide medical services and healthcare to students within the school setting. Research suggests that students who use school based health clinic services perform better academically in school by improving their attendance, health status, and addressing their medical needs. This retrospective study explored the relationship between school based health clinics and academic performance in elementary school-aged children. Academic performance was measured using students' final grades, New Jersey Assessment of Skills and Knowledge (NJ ASK), and Language Arts Literacy (LAL) scores. Students were tracked longitudinally from grades 3-5 comparing students who used an onsite school based health clinic versus those who did not use an

onsite school based health clinic. Results explore relationships between school based health clinic users versus school based health clinic non-users as well as differences between school based health clinic users and non-users. These findings suggest that having an onsite school based health clinic may improve academic performance in elementary school-aged children.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Student health in elementary and secondary schools is an important aspect that has gained increased consideration over the past several decades in the United States (The Center for Health and Healthcare in Schools, 2007). It is important to assure that children receive adequate healthcare within the school setting that contributes to the growth and development of healthy and productive lifestyles. Children between the ages of 5 and 19 make up approximately 18% (55 million) of the population in the United States (The Center for Health and Healthcare in Schools, 2007). One way of assuring that these students mature with meaningful lives is to provide them with onsite healthcare access in school.

A School-based Health Clinic (SBHC) is an onsite clinic located within the school grounds providing a comprehensive range of services to students. These services are targeted to the specific healthcare needs of the youth community (National Assembly of School-Based Healthcare [NASBHC], 2008). These onsite clinics become part of the school community, as healthcare practitioners and others involved strive to become leaders, mentors, and instructors of healthcare, and hope to provide beyond the necessary medical and health services to students with illnesses. According to Kalet et al. (2007),

School-based health centers (SBHCs) have tremendous untapped potential as models for learning about systems-based care of vulnerable children. SBHCs aim to provide comprehensive, community-based primary healthcare to primary and secondary schoolchildren who might not otherwise have ready access to that care. The staffing at SBHCs is multidisciplinary, including various combinations of nurse practitioners, physicians, dentists, nutritionists, and mental health providers. (p.1)

SBHCs employ practitioners who provide comprehensive care to students in diverse areas of healthcare, including general practitioners such as physicians, nurse practitioners, registered nurses, and physician assistants; mental health specialists such as social workers, alcohol counsellors, and drug counsellors; and other varieties of health professionals (NASBHC, 2008). Students use the services of the SBHC for medication administration, preventative care, mental health counselling services, and emergency care during the school day. SBHCs provide services through a qualified health provider such as a hospital, health department, or medical practice. Parents must sign written consent forms in order for their children to receive access to the full scope of available services (NASBHC, 2008).

Researchers have documented the positive impact of school-related health services on several health-related outcomes. These have included the effect of school-based and schoollinked health services on the prevention of early pregnancies and other sexual health-related problems. These health services, in conjunction with the school, smooth the plight of those who are pregnant or have mental disorders. However, because these services are school-related, it may be possible that the presence of these services would have an effect on the students' academic performance and school attendance.

Theoretical Frames

This study operated on the premise of two conceptual theories. First, the researcher based the study on the idea that convenience is becoming an important determinant of how consumers choose which services to make use of, including healthcare options. This relates to the structural changes that the American family is undergoing—specifically, the need for both spouses to join the workforce, increasing the need for products and services that are more convenient. Second, the researcher based this study on the increasing body of knowledge positing that all aspects of health relate to academic performance. SBHCs offer a comprehensive range of health services, which range from catering to physical health to providing counselling and services for high-risk issues such as substance abuse, sexual health, and other matters that relate to these issues. The researcher will discuss these two theories in greater detail in the literature review, found in Chapter 2 of this study.

Problem Statement

Providing students with clinical healthcare access onsite has been a powerful tool in maintaining and assessing the health needs of students; however, it has been a challenge to fund access to healthcare for all schools (Franklin, Harris, & Allen-Meares, 2006). For this reason, not all students in the United States have access to health centers at their schools. As a result, students may be forced to miss classes or school due to illnesses or injuries that require treatment outside of the school setting (Franklin et al., 2006). The student would have to receive treatment at a location outside of the school, resulting in longer wait times or travel. By having a healthcare center on site, students are able to obtain quick and efficient care for their illness or injury, resulting in less missed class time. This lack of access to onsite SBHCs could affect students' academic achievement. The primary premise of this study was to determine if there is a difference in academic performance across schools that have access to SBHCs and those that do not have access to SBHCs. Although some studies that have shown a link between school-related health services and academic services, there is still no study detailing the direct relationship between these school-related health services such as school-based clinics and school-linked clinics on the academic performance of students.

According to Walker, Kerns, Lyons, Bruns, and Cosgrove (2009), this dearth of literature results from difficulties in gathering related data due to privacy laws, "limitations of self-report data for measuring academic outcomes, inability to make conclusive causal statements because of cross-sectional data or limited follow up, and the paucity of research studies that have employed control groups or well-controlled analyses." For example, Walker et al. (2009) aimed to examine the effects of SBHCs on the academic performances on high school students by utilizing a well-controlled longitudinal model. The researchers also wanted to investigate whether there is a difference on the impacts on SBHC medical services from its mental health services. Their participants involved ninth-grade SBHC users and non-users. The duration of the study was for five school semesters, from the fall of 2005 to the fall of 2007.

The researchers compared the participants based on their academic outcomes for this period. The researchers concluded that SBHC medical users attended classes more often than non-users. Findings also suggested that SBHC mental health services users demonstrated increased GPAs over time. However, the researchers did not gather any significant findings regarding the students' discipline and behaviors (Walker et al., 2009). This demonstrated that SBHCs in general have a positive impact on academic improvements, but determining which aspect the SBHCs improve requires a closer look at the specific services offered.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to determine if there is a significant difference in academic performance among urban elementary school students using school-based health clinics (SBHCs) and those that do not use SBHCs. A School-based Health Clinic (SBHC) is an onsite clinic located within the school grounds that provides a comprehensive range of services to students. These onsite clinics become a part of the school community, lending insight and advocacy in promoting the health status of the students they serve (NASBHC, 2008). SBHCs employ practitioners who provide comprehensive care to students in all different areas of healthcare, including general practitioners such as physicians, nurse practitioners, registered nurses, and physician assistants; mental health specialists such as social workers, alcohol counsellors, and

drug counsellors; and other varieties of health professionals (NASBHC, 2008).

The researcher employed a quantitative, ex post facto causal-comparative, retrospective cohort research design. The researcher collected historical data related to academic achievement and SBHCs through a district database consisting of attendance records, SBHC logs, and report cards. The quantitative ex post facto design was appropriate for this study, because the objective was to determine whether there are differences between two types of schools when it comes to academic achievement. With the ex post facto design, the levels or categories for the independent variable were already defined or classified, so that the researcher did not have the ability to manipulate or randomly assign individuals to certain groups.

In the context of social and educational research, ex post facto research is frequently part of retrospective studies, in which researchers assess cause-and-effect relationships by using existing conditions or state of affairs (Cohen, Manion, & Morrison, 2000). Ex post facto research looks back in time to determine any possible causes for the particular outcomes of interest. Additionally, the ex post facto design is appropriate when the events or treatments have already occurred and cannot be manipulated by the researcher (Cohen et al., 2000). Students using SBHCs and those not using SBHCs are already present and, therefore, cannot be manipulated by the researcher, making the ex post facto research design the most appropriate for the study.

The quantitative research method will be used for the current study rather than a qualitative design because with a qualitative design the researcher would not be able to assess a direct relationship between two variables as result of the open-ended questions (Creswell, 2009). The researcher will interpret and code the responses received, in order to identify trends or themes in the responses of qualitative research designs. Moreover, qualitative research addresses different questions, such as the *how* and *why* questions of research (Yin, 2003). This was not the

purpose of the current study. The purpose of the study was to determine if there is a difference in academic performance across students that have access to SBHCs and those that do not have access to SBHCs.

The population for the study was students who were currently enrolled in an urban public school. The researcher assessed a random sample of those students who use SBHCs and those do not use SBHCs. Schools that have SBHCs employ practitioners who provide comprehensive care to students in all different areas of healthcare, including general practitioners such as physicians, nurse practitioners, registered nurses, and physician assistants; mental health specialists such as social workers, alcohol counsellors, and drug counsellors; and other varieties of health professionals (NASBHC, 2008). Thus, one school will sufficiently provide a random sample representing a student population that does and does not use SBHCs.

Significance of the Study

The findings of this study can help fill the gap in existing knowledge regarding the direct effects of school-related health services on the attendance and academic performance of children. Previous studies have shown indirect links and probable effects, but no researchers have undertaken comprehensive studies to ascertain the positive effects of providing school-based healthcare for students. The findings of this study can provide support for efforts to provide school-based healthcare, especially for students residing in undeserved, underprivileged communities who lack access to healthcare. The findings may can also encourage educators and school district board members to increase efforts in finding various ways to fund and provide healthcare programs for students, in order to help boost their school attendance and academic performance.

Research Questions

The research questions formulated for the study were as follows:

RQ1: Is there a relationship between SBHC use, SBHC non-use, and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

RQ1A: Is there a relationship between SBHC use and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

RQ1B: Is there a relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

RQ2: Is there a relationship between primary services offered by SBHCs (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

RQ2A: Is there a relationship between the primary service "Physicals" offered by SBHCs and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grade 3, 4, and 5?

RQ2B: Is there a relationship between the primary service "Immunizations" offered by SBHCs and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grade 3, 4, and 5?

RQ2C: Is there a relationship between the primary service "Mental Health" offered by SBHC and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grade 3, 4, and 5?

RQ3: Is there a difference in academic performance (as measured by final grades,

NJASK scores, and LAL scores) between SBHC Users and SBHC Non-users, across grades 3, 4, and 5?

RQ4: Is there a difference in academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJASK scores, and LAL scores) between primary SBHC services used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and primary SBHC services not used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health), across grades 3, 4, and 5?

Hypotheses

To assess the research questions, the researcher posed the following hypotheses. The hypotheses include null and alternative hypotheses. The null and alternative hypotheses for the current study, based on the research questions stated previously, were as follows:

Ho1: There is no relationship between SBHC use, SBHC non-use, and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5.

H_A**1:** There is a relationship between SBHC use, SBHC non-use, and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5.

H₀1A: There is no relationship between SBHC use and academic performance.

H_A**1A:** There is a relationship between SBHC use and academic performance.

H₀1B: There is no relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance.

H_A1B: There is a relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance.

H₀**2:** There is no relationship between primary services offered by SBHCS (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and academic performance (as measured by final

grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5.

H_A2: There is a relationship between primary services offered by SBHCS (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5.

H₀**2A:** There is no relationship between the primary service "Physicals" and academic performance.

H_A**2A:** There is a relationship between the primary service "Physicals" and academic performance.

H₀**2B:** There is no relationship between the primary service "Immunizations" and academic performance.

H_A**2B**: There is a relationship between the primary service "Immunizations" and academic performance.

H₀**2C:** There is no relationship between the primary service "Mental Health" and academic performance.

H_A**2C:** There is a relationship between the primary service "Mental Health" and academic performance.

H₀**3:** There is no difference in academic performance between SBHC users and SBHC non-users across grades 3,4, and 5.

H_A**3:** There is a difference in academic performance between SBHC users and SBHC non-users across grades 3,4, and 5.

Ho4: There is no difference in academic performance between primary SBHC services used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and primary SBHC services not used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health), across grades 3, 4, and 5?

H_{A4}: There is a difference in academic performance between primary SBHC services used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and primary SBHC services not used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health), across grades 3, 4, and 5?

Ethical Concerns, Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

When conducting a study that includes human subjects, the researcher took a number of ethical concerns into consideration (Cozby, 2007). The first thing the researcher did was to obtain ethical approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) in order to conduct the study. Once approval was granted, the researcher provided each of the participants with an informed consent form illustrating the main components of the study. As listed by Cozby (2007), first, these forms should include the purpose of the research along with the expected duration of the study and procedures that are involved. The second is that the participants have the option to decline or withdraw from the research once the research has begun, while the third is that the potential participants know the consequences of declining or withdrawing. This included the principal's willingness to accept or decline the researcher's ability to use the school's databases for the current study.

The assumptions of this study were that the school selected would be representative of all the elementary schools in the target population. If the school is representative of the target population, this will allow for the generalization of the findings of the study in the respective school district. This required selecting a school that is representative of the target population in terms of demographic and social characteristics. The researcher assumed that the students selected for this study would have identical methods for calculating their GPA. All schools in the respective school district use the New Jersey State Core Curriculum Standards to measure students' academic achievement. Limitations to this study are those that the researcher is unable to control. A limitation to this study was the fact that the researcher was unable to control for the subjects participating in the study; the sample came from a small cohort that the researcher obtained through a convenience sample. The participants were comprised of students from a school where the administrator was willing to consent to use their school databases for the study. The second limitation to the study was that the data of the sample set are retrospective, and already a part of the students' cumulative school record. The quantitative nature of the study may have limited the results, in that the researcher could not ask follow-up or probing questions.

The delimitations of the study are those that illustrate the boundaries that the researcher imposed. In turn, the delimitations of the studies are those that limit the outcomes, thus generalizing the findings to the target population and to the school district from which the researcher culled the data. Additionally, only one school represented the target population. The researcher studied one school with students using SBHCs and students not using SBHCs. As a result, this school may not be representative of other school districts, such that generalizations are limited to the specific school district. The researcher attempted to select a school that has similar methods for calculating the students' GPA, as well as a school that is representative of the target population in terms of demographic and social characteristics.

Summary

The health of students in elementary or secondary schools is an important aspect over the past several decades in the United States. One way of assuring that these students mature and engage in meaningful productive lives that positively contribute to society is to provide them with access to health clinics on site. A School-based Health Clinic (SBHC) is an onsite clinic located within the school premises providing comprehensive services to students. These services

address specific healthcare needs of students needing medical care.

Providing the students with access to healthcare clinics on site has been a powerful tool in maintaining and assessing the health needs of those students; however, ensuring that all schools have healthcare access is a significant challenge. For this reason, not every student in the United States has sufficient healthcare resources at their schools. As a result, students may be forced to miss classes or school entirely due to illnesses or injuries that require treatment outside of the school.

The positive impact of school health services is reflected in the literature review, which includes school-based and school-linked health services on prevention, counselling, and health promotion. The possibility of reducing child health disparities is a relevant concern in school districts. Assessing the causes and consequences of health disparities in schools is becoming a primary indicator in evaluating the effectiveness of our overall healthcare system. The role that SBHCs play in addressing school health promotion speaks to the outcomes of improved academic performance, and healthcare reform for children, which ultimately influences their adult social status. A child's health as a student has implications over one's entire life. Therefore, poor health impacts children educationally, creating social consequences that reach into adulthood.

The purpose of the study was to assess if there is a significant difference in school attendance and academic performance among students that use school-based health clinics (SBHCs) and those that do not. The research lends insight to school-based health practice, and the relevance SBHCs possess in rendering medical care to underserved underprivileged students in urban communities. Although health and social status are often considered to act independently of each other in influencing students' educational success, they are more likely to

interact, creating and sustaining health disparities among urban community students. Addressing healthcare early in life is a significant indicator of students' educational success.

Research has suggested that educational participation and academic performance play meaningful roles in identifying why students with poor health status do not display increased learning readiness levels unlike their peers with adequate healthcare status. Researchers across health, sociological, and educational disciplines have suggested the significant contribution of SBHCs in school districts. Assessing the relationship between SBHCs and academic performance in the urban community increases the potential for school health to contribute in a distinctive way that addresses the educational development of students. The relationship of school health to academic performance is suggestive of a profound role in producing a student Diaspora, empowered with healthier choices leading to meaningful successful lifestyles that contribute to society.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

Providing school-based health services to young people is increasingly acknowledged for its capacity to give students something comprehensive, easily accessible, and in-tuned to their confidentiality requirements within a very familiar and safe environment (Chase, Goodrich, Simon, Holtermann, & Aggleton, 2006). Furthermore, these school-based services can establish a connection between health-related issues through the curriculum and the practical support necessary to assist young individuals in learning how to be responsible for their own health and wellbeing (Chase et al., 2006). According to West Side Community Park Center, there are many barriers concerning why people are not convinced to go to a hospital or health centers. People do not make use of available services because first, their level of poverty and education may not be sufficient to know that they should seek preventative care from doctors. Secondly, they may lack health insurance, which makes it hard for them to consult with someone on proper healthcare.

Problems with Access to Healthcare

School-based health clinics in urban communities offer the benefit of convenience for students and parents. They provide readily available and convenient healthcare access. In addition, because they employ the services of people from various sectors of the community, such as the medical health professionals, parents, and community planning organizations, schoolbased health clinics are in the position to enact positive changes in the community that cater to the diverse needs of its members.

A community can also gain from SBHCs because they provide accessibility to people who are uninsured, as well as unequivocal attention to their health needs. Students can access healthcare during the times that they need it without actually missing school. This adjusts student attendance and enhances their academic performance. Early life-saving warning signs can come from these school-based health centers as well. These centers provide other child care services, as well such as "child visits, primary care, sports physicals, immunizations, dispensing of daily medications, lab services, health promotion, counselling, referrals, home visits, HIV testing and chronic disease management, making the center very valuable for communities" (Dowling, 2009).

Schools are the optimal place to entrust accessible and relatively stable interventions for children, and to promote school connectedness during a time of multiple transitions (Bond et al., 2004; Dwyer & Wyn, 2001; National Research Council and Institute of Medicine [NRCIM], 2002; Willms, 2003). The intervention programs implemented in schools bring about better educational and health outcomes (Bowlby, 1980; NRCIM, 2004). That is why health reforms, especially those that propose budget cuts, always pose a threat for not only the center, but for the whole community as well (Dowling, 2009).

State-funded services such as SHBCs are always affected by reforms by the federal government. Reforms implemented in earlier years have had an impact on SBHCs. The greatest benefit a community can gain from having an SBHC in their district is that it helps the students and their families overcome financial and other socio-economical barriers that limits them from accessing healthcare services (Steinschneider, 1998). SHBCs assist in resolving the dilemma of lacking health insurance, difficulty in transportation, and inadequate attention to the population's needs, since the clinic is based at school within the community. However, because these centers are state-funded, they commonly face the challenge of acquiring stable sources of funding and enough resources to meet the health needs of all their users or patients. SHBCs also have the challenge of obtaining reimbursements from private and public insurers. Brindis et al. (2003)

observed that sustainability is always a problem for SBHCs, mainly because they lack the stability in their financial inflows. They survive only because they offer accessibility to the uninsured and those who cannot afford expensive healthcare services. Due to their ease of access and services provided, SBHCs indirectly enhance the academic performance of the student users. Additionally, the study of Brindis et al. (2003) illustrated how SBHCs survive in their precarious position by learning to adapt and implanting quality assurance mechanisms.

With these financial challenges brought on by their status as state-funded operations, healthcare reforms by the federal government can therefore affect the people greatly. According to the Health Reform study, reforms that would increase access to insurance coverage would help the SBHCs face their challenges, because more people would receive quality healthcare (NASBHC, 2009).

In light of President Obama's healthcare reform commitments, there are a myriad of implications for SBHCs. The reform in debate addresses how to increase access to healthcare by lowering costs for Americans. Initially, the reform proposed some threats for the SBHCs; the White House suggested that the healthcare reform legislation eliminate the SBHC program in order to cut costs. State-wide, the proposed cuts make up an anticipated loss of \$4.7 million in SBHC funding. NASBHC addressed the threat by quickly mobilizing and appealing to the White House through calls and emails. No cuts have yet been made (NASBHC, 2009).

Despite these threats, the NASBHC seized the opportunities presented by the health reforms. This organization identified opportunities that will promote school-based healthcare. In particular, one amendment that the NASBHC proposed was accepted, and now there is a requirement in place relative to cost-based reimbursement for SBHCs. This is a major milestone, considering the financial challenges faced by SHBCs. Furthermore, the NASBHC Assembly was integrated the authorization language into the H.E.L.P. Bill. The NASBHC Assembly's bill was able to survive discussions of amendments that would have deteriorated the operations of SBHCs if otherwise implemented. Another breakthrough was the establishment of a 2-year competitive grant program that would provide SBHCs funds and assistance at a time when other programs are suffering from budget cuts (NASBHC, 2009).

This funding reflects government and community advocacy of SBHC operations, which significantly aid in maintenance and sustainability amidst threatening financial challenges and reforms. The government, community, and the school should be cognizant that budgeting is critical for the school-based health centers, especially for the benefits they bring to the entire community.

Theoretical Framework

The study operated on the premise of two conceptual theories. The first was a marketing theory, which focuses on convenience as the reason why consumers may opt for one service over another. The second was a concept which connects the status of one's physical health to one's performance in school. These two ideas combined helped to explain how SBHCs are important in supporting the American urban community.

The first theory deals with the role of convenience in marketing goods and services. Defined as anything that is intended to save time, resources, or frustration, convenience is rapidly becoming a determinant in consumer decision making (Farquhar & Rowley, 2009). Various other sources have supported this idea, posited by Farquhar and Rowley. As early as 1958, Kelley had already determined that convenience assumes importance as a determinant of patronage. This concept is true for marketing strategies for a variety of products, ranging from everyday consumer goods such as food to more specified needs such as pharmaceuticals. According to Gladson (1990), the changes in the structure of the American family have contributed to the increased need for convenience goods. With both spouses working to provide for the family, it has become increasingly important to Americans that they be able to meet required expectations expeditiously (Gladson, 1990). In 1999, Elitzak reported that the costs of food production in the United States had risen dramatically, in an effort to provide food that is in a form that is considered convenient—namely, cleaned, marinated, packaged, and practically ready to eat. The rising trend for online shopping is also driven by the consumers' need for convenience. As an example, Chang and Dibb (2006) found that using the Internet to replace actual travel increased service convenience to consumers, thus allowing them to save time and effort in securing necessary products. Given this concept, Chang and Dibb concluded that eservice businesses are capable of constantly providing desired consumer convenience. Figure 1 illustrates convenience theory.



Figure 1. Convenience theory.

@2016 C.Samuel

The second concept on which this study was based postulates that academic performance is bolstered by good health status in students. A study conducted by Behrman in 1996 found strong associations between child health and nutrition and educational achievement. Rungo (2008) found that children who are in a better state of health are able to start schooling at an earlier age. Lehrer, Ding, and Rosenquist (2006) conducted a study that explained the correlation between health and education. Their study examined the effects of various health conditions such as obesity, ADHD, and depression on the academic performance of adolescents. This study found that poor physical and mental health had an adverse effect on the academic performance of their respondents, particularly on the female students. In support of this, the California Education Supports Project (2009) revealed that the health status of students has a direct effect on academic performance, particularly dropout rates, attendance, and the ability to reach academic achievement goals as mandated by the state. The report published also stated that "student health is a strong predictor of academic performance... yet an overwhelming number of students come to school with a myriad of health problems that compromise their ability to learn" (California Education Supports Project, 2009, p.2). Dilley (2009) concluded that not only are health and education linked to each other, but academic success can also be vastly affected by every health risk. These health risks are not just limited to physical health risks, such as outright illness, but also include unhealthy behaviors such as too much consumption of sugar, smoking, and drinking; watching too much TV; and insufficient exercise. In conjunction to this work, Hanson and Austin (2002) also linked positive academic performance with environmental health factors such as perceived school safety and external assets such as resilience. According to Hanson and Austin, this sense of resilience relies upon the presence of three protective factors in the school environment: caring relationships, high expectations, and opportunities for meaningful participation. The development of these factors correlates not only to positive academic performance, but also to low involvement in risky behaviors and positive youth development. Figure 2 illustrates health and academic performance theory.



Figure 2. Health and academic performance theory.



`SBHC implementation combines these two concepts, advocating for improved health care access and academic performance in school-aged children. Because SBHCs are located on school grounds, they can provide a comprehensive range of health services from within the heart of the community. Figure 3 illustrates the merging of convenience theory and health and academic performance theory.



Figure 3. SBHC implementation.

©2016 C. Samuel

Operational Definitions

There are two types of SBHCs that vary slightly in form, methodology, and structure: school-based health clinics (SBHCs) and school-linked health services. Both are programs that attempt to improve upon and expand the services provided to help students with the goal of positively influencing academic performance through physical, mental or academic connection.

School-based Health Clinics

A School-based Health Clinic (SBHC) is an onsite clinic located within the school grounds that provides a comprehensive range of services to students. In 2000, Weinick and Krauss discussed that SBHCs have also been a vital link and community voice in school healthcare within the American school districts. Acosta, Weist, Lopez, Shafer, and Josefina (2004) explained that SBHCs offer mental health services that can address the students' needs and lend insight to the concerns of school staff. These services target the specific healthcare needs of the youth community (NASBHC, 2008). These onsite clinics become a part of the school community, as healthcare practitioners and others involved strive to become leaders, mentors, and instructors of healthcare, and hope to provide beyond the necessary medical and health services to students with illnesses.

SBHCs employ practitioners who provide comprehensive care to students in multifaceted areas of healthcare. These areas may include general practitioners such as physicians, nurse practitioners, registered nurses, and physician assistants; mental health specialists such as social workers, alcohol counsellors, and drug counsellors, and other varieties of health professionals (NASBHC, 2008). Students use the services of the SBHC for school nurse medication administration, preventative care, mental health counselling services, dental care, and emergency care during the school day. SBHCs provide services through a qualified health provider such as a hospital, health department, or medical practice. The developers of this program recognized the need to enhance primary and preventive healthcare of family with low-income, high-risk communities. Compared with other health centers, SBHCs give more focus in preventing illness leading to disabilities and hospitalizations. These precautionary measures are given to each student who enrolls. Parents are required to sign written consent forms in order for their children to be allowed the full scope of available services within the school perimeters (NASBHC, 2008).

School-linked Health Services

School-Linked Health Services (SLHS), the second type of school-based health centers, are similar to the school-based health clinics in that they provide healthcare services in a readily accessible manner to youths. However, these clinics are often mobile, meaning that their availability to the student body may be intermittent as they frequently serve more than one school system. While this could be considered a drawback in an urban community school with a large student body, these types of clinics are well-suited to travel and cover the distance required to service a greater amount of students in suburban and rural areas. SLHSs may provide more options for youths in need of healthcare. The healthcare offered often varies depending on the geographical makeup of the served area. SLHSs also frequently provide extended office hours beyond those of the school day, and provide a larger range of services because they serve more than one youth community, such as multiple schools in a district, and the needs of each community may vary from another (NASBHC, 2008). Regardless of which form is available in the community, both health clinics decrease barriers to accessing healthcare, because school is the center of community healthcare activity.

Benefits of SBHCs

Effects on Overall Well-being of Students on Urban Communities

School-based health centers have decided effects on society, some of which include the well-being of the students, their academic performance, attendance, self-esteem, and school connectedness. One of the most significant benefits to students of school-based health clinics in the urban communities is that, aside from the ready availability of convenient healthcare access, some SBHCs employ a board of advisors consisting of medical professionals, parents, youths and community planning organizations to help provide direction and insight into the diverse needs of their client population. These advisors provide keen insight into the school community's challenges and obstacles. These advisors are best equipped to collaboratively arrive at viable solutions to these problems like teen pregnancy and discrimination. The student community is more likely to accept solutions obtained in this manner. There is frequently cultural distrust for the medical profession in underserved, under-privileged communities. By involving the community in the healthcare process, the population determines feasible solutions that address health disparities within these communities (NASBHC, 2008).

Another significant benefit of these clinics is that they allow for the pooling of community resources and knowledge, benefiting every child that needs care. The lack of healthcare challenges students' learning capabilities, as well as teachers rendering instruction for their students. Armed with the insight of a healthcare provider's familiarity with students' life circumstances, teachers are better able to understand the underlying causes of a student's poor or struggling performance and to offer the right type of assistance at the right time. Teachers benefit from this type of whole student understanding provided by SBHCs to accurately assess the performance of their students and provide the support that students need to succeed academically.

The greatest benefit students report is the confidentiality provided by the SBHC (Brindis et al., 2003). Students have demonstrated that they feel more comfortable seeking medical attention for high risk behaviours such as sex, drugs, and violence when they understand that the SBHC is held to a high level of confidentiality as provided by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), and that the healthcare providers will work with them directly and according to their needs to help resolve any issues (NASBHC, 2008).

Existing HIPAA protocols allow SBHCs to mentor students directly. SBHCs have demonstrated not just a positive influence over high school aged students who exhibit high risk behaviours, but also promote them to interact with both community and school programs. (Brindis et al, 2003; Gall, Pagano, Desmond, Perrin & Murphy, 2000). Researchers have postulated that if SBHCs are able to influence high school aged youth, and direct toward health promoting behaviours, they may be even more successful academically at the elementary and middle school levels. Students in these age groups are more easily influenced by adult leaders, and have fewer years of detrimental habits to overcome.

Due to their functional difference, the way school-linked health centers benefit users is different from how school-based health clinics (SBHCs) benefit users. According to Fothergill (1997), SLHCs appeal to young people because they give aid to adolescent health and answers questions regarding their development issues. All the providers are experienced in serving this particular population. Most school-linked health centers (SLHCs) make an extensive array of general medical services, counseling services, reproductive healthcare, and social services intended for adolescents available.

By supplying wide-ranging services, SLHCs can respond to several problems at one time;
thus, adolescents have one central place to go for all their medical needs. Aside from these services, most SLHCs' staffs follow specific procedures to assist and support adolescent use of services, including calls reminding them of appointments and conducting follow-up. The special relationship between school-linked health centers (SLHCs) and schools gives them a unique advantage over other community-based models of care since they are not restricted in the kind of interventions they can offer. One example would be that some of the school-based health clinics (SBHCs) cannot distribute contraceptives to young students because they do not provide family planning inside the school grounds. The special relationship that the SBHC develops with the school guarantees two-way referrals, consultations, and overall improvement of quality and continuity of care (Fothergill, 1997).

One more important advantage of the SLHCs over SBHCs is that they have more independence or autonomy to make decisions with regard to the scope of services. All of the SLHCs' programs are located on sites that are convenient to different schools and neighborhoods, thus serving more than the school population. This enhances the access of adolescents to the services that SLHCs provide, and is less costly than establishing health centers within each school.

When a SLHC serves junior and senior high schools, then the care offered is continuous and consistent throughout the adolescent years (Fothergill, 1997). Furthermore, SLHCs are in better position to discuss and negotiate with managed care plans, while the SBHCs are not as independent and experience more restrictions in billing clients. SBHCs are less capable of meeting the stringent criteria imposed by the managed care plans (Fothergill, 1997).

Both types of school-based health centers have demonstrated clear benefits that are unique to the school health concept (Nelson & Quinney, 1997). Both types have also

significantly evolved in their efficiency in providing services. As discussed in the study of Waszak, Peak, Neidell, and Hyche-Williams (1991), the Center for Population Options conducted a survey that assessing the effectiveness of 183 school-based and school-linked clinics on facilitating on-site provision of contraceptives to adolescents in 1990. This research assessed the preparedness of the clinics. The researchers discovered that only 48 of the clinics surveyed had contraceptives available. Those who distributed contraceptives were those funded by community health centers, while those who did not have contraceptives available relied on the budget from health departments, city government, or private foundations (Waszak et al., 1991).

A more recent study conducted in 2003 suggested that SBHCs and SLHCs are more effective and prevalent in specific communities. Distribution of condoms and other prevalent health related services such as free screenings and referrals that empower needy communities further justifies the need for these services. These school-based health services provided their greatest service by disseminating this much-needed health information (Thistle, 2003).

According to Kirby, Short, and Collins (1994), in their review of 23 studies published about school-based programs, they found there were specific sexual health programs that actually delay adolescent and teenage sexual activity. These programs reportedly lower the frequency of intercourse and sexually transmitted diseases (STDs), decrease the average number of sexual partners, as well as increase safe sex activities such as using condoms and other contraceptives. Moreover, these school-based programs have demonstrated effectiveness in health promotion by using preventive measures in reducing potential exposure to unwanted and early pregnancies. These programs also aid in reducing vulnerability to sexually-transmitted diseases and HIV infection.

The latest research by Strunk (2008) suggested that school-based health clinics can also

be useful in providing support and guidance in response to negative outcomes associated with early teenage pregnancy and parenting. For example, in cases of teenage pregnancy, students would have the school-based health clinics, nurse practitioners, and the school nurses to guide them throughout the process. They can access needed services such as educational support, counselling and community resources (Strunk, 2008). The number of teenage pregnancy decreases when there is an established school-based health clinic. This is beneficial for the students and the community, since the children receive proper guidance regarding personal and emotional health.

Effects on Academic Performance

Effect on academic achievement. In this portion of the literature review, the researcher focuses on the link between school-based health clinics (SBHCs) and the improvement of the student-users in relation to their academic performance. There are students who regularly use either school-based or school-linked health clinics for their healthcare services. These students have reported feeling a connection with their healthcare providers, since they established a relationship and became their confidants. Additionally, these students had greater academic success in terms of staying in school, promotion and graduation (Thompson, Lachan, Overpeck, Ross, & Gross, 2006).

Thompson et al. (2006) culled characteristics of schools from data maintained by Quality Education Data, and school neighborhood characteristics, which the researchers derived from the 2000 decennial census. School connectedness was the independent variable, defined as the "likability" of the school on behalf of the students, as well as the presence of positive relations between students and teachers. The dependent variables in the study were varied and included observed characteristics of students, schools, and school neighbourhoods. This data demonstrated the connection between the dependent and independent variable proposed by this study. Outcomes suggested that the rate of school connectedness is higher in schools with smaller, more racially homogenous and wealthier student populations (Thompson et al., 2006).

Some of the students in the study by Thompson et al. (2006) were enmeshed in difficult life circumstances, such as teen pregnancy, parenthood, and living independently from their parents. These students were among the groups of students most likely to drop out or otherwise not graduate from school. The study credited the connectedness of the students to their SBHC providers, and thus, to their teachers as a community of support rather than as another obstacle to overcome in an already difficult set of life circumstances. The supportive community of school health providers and teachers were primary factors that kept these high-risk students in school. This underscores the SBHCs' role in providing for the psychosocial needs of students with otherwise limited access to healthcare.

Thompson et al. (2006) contended that school-based health clinics (SBHCs) and academic performance have a direct and positive relationship. Furthermore, this reinforced the finding of earlier studies by McCord, Klein, Foy, and Fothergill (1993), which examined the effects of having a SBHC in urban communities where socio-economically deprived families could rely on the school system to support them by providing healthcare to their children. The findings suggested that as a direct result of having access to the SBHC, one school system in New York City improved student attendance, promotion, and graduation rates, and reduced the rates of suspension and withdrawal from school.

A published report on education claimed that healthy students are more successful in school (Keshishian, 2009). Barbara Keshishian, President of the New Jersey Education Association, asserted that health status during childhood and adolescence influences children's educational success. Keshishian stated that educators instinctively understand that healthy students have great academic advantages: they are in class more often, and are better able to learn and focus during classroom instructional time. Educators are also positioned to strongly advocate for students to have access to the medical services they need. Educators realize that with readily available healthcare, students come to school strong, healthy, and ready to learn. (Keshishian, 2009).

Researchers have established an important link between childhood health and academic achievement. Sociologist Jackson (2009) suggested that students struggling with a health condition are apt to miss more days of school than their peers. Without a proper safety net to compensate for missed schoolwork and learning, adolescents fall behind academically and perform poorly on learning assessments both within and outside of school. Jackson also contended that there may be subjective limitations associated with poor adolescent health, which translates into reduced educational attainment.

Using nationally representative data from adolescents in the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1997, with educational attainment as the dependent variable and health, social, parental, academic mediators, and demographic characteristics as independent variables, Jackson assessed variation in the link between health and educational attainment by race/ethnicity and socio-economic status. Jackson also assessed the role of several academic factors related to participation, performance, and expectations that may lend insight on the link between adolescent health and educational attainment.

Jackson's research outcomes on the relationship between health and educational attainment in adolescents were multidirectional. The findings suggested that adolescents with poor health are less likely to graduate from high school in a timely manner and are less likely to attend college. The findings also reflected that the adverse educational consequences of poor health are not limited to one subgroup of the population, but span the socio-economic spectrum when defined by ethnicity and race. Lastly, the findings demonstrated that educational participation and performance play meaningful roles in explaining why adolescents with poorer health status attain lower educational status levels.

Following Jackson's (1997) findings, Mirowsky, Ross, and Reynolds (2000) claimed that the link between social status and health may be partially explained by the diverse beliefs and choices people make in shaping their success. Mirowsky et al. (2000) asserted that those who are on the low end of the socio-economic spectrum may believe more strongly that their outcomes are out of their control. Although this theory has typically been applied in explaining socioeconomic disparities in health, it also lends to examining the relationship between health disparities and students' academic achievement.

Effect on student attendance. One way that SBHCs reduce student dropout rates or increase student academic achievement overall is from the centers' impact on student attendance. Attendance is the number one determinant of the connectedness between students and their school community, whether this is high or low (Weismuller, Grasska, Alexander, White, & Kramer, 2007). Weismuller et al. found that since attending school regularly is a necessary part of the learning process, being absent most of the time has a direct negative effect on academic performance.

Foy and Hahn (2009) studied the operations of an onsite, community school-based health center by Vallejo City Unified School District over a 4-year operation. The researchers gauged the relation to the clinics effect on students' exclusion rates reduction and increase in student school attendance. One of the primary goals of the clinic was to reduce student absences. Attendance benefits not only the student and his or her family, but also prevents any budget cuts of the school district's state funding. In the 4 years since the health center started operations, the high exclusion rate of first grade students due to the inability to meet the state-mandated physical examinations dropped by 74%.

This reduction in rates translates into increased school attendance and increased financial funds for the school district. In other words, this improved attendance rate also led to schoolbased health being protected in times of school district financial difficulties from budget cuts. This center also decreased hospitalizations due to asthma and demonstrated improved immunization rates. Foy and Hahn (2009) claimed the center is successful because it fills a void that "benefits the children, their families and the community" that it serves. Researchers have also claimed that the center bridges the gap between those children who can access healthcare because of their insurance and those cannot do so because they are uninsured. This study also suggested that the center is very well-accepted by the community; the school district provided more funding, allowing the clinic to operate another larger school-based health center in other undeserved Vallejo areas in the spring of 2009 (Foy & Hahn, 2009).

According to Kearney (2007), absenteeism from school is a grave public health matter for mental health professionals, physicians, and educators. The occurrence of unexcused absences from school exceeds that of major childhood behaviour disorders, and is a main risk factor for adverse behaviours such aggression, injury, substance abuse, psychiatric disorders, and economic difficulty. According to Kearney, one important determinant or precursor to absenteeism is the school climate. This refers to how the students feel about their school and its environment and the level of support they receive academically, socially, and physically. The study also looks at the connectedness that students feel for their school. School climate and connectedness may also encompass positive classroom management, participation in extracurricular activities, and considerate disciplinary procedures. The feeling of safety, acceptance, belongingness, worth, and respect are all aspects of school connectedness for the student (Kearney, 2007).

Kearney (2007) showed that school attendance is directly related to academic achievement and inversely related to school dropout rates. Students who are always absent from class or show irregular attendance rates are at higher risk of delinquency and dropping out of school. They will have more problems in adulthood as well, whether it concerns their job, their marriage, or their general emotional and social well-being. However, youths who receive intervention for these problems, whether received from parents or school, may be at decreased long-term risk.

According to Weismuller et al. (2007), the presence of school nurses can be very effective in addressing the issue of school absences. The researchers described the effect of school nurse interventions on both lower rates and decreasing the rate of student absenteeism because of their increased interaction with students who are absent from school. The study also assessed how school nurses helped promote overall student health by giving health guidance to the students.

Conducting a retrospective review of 240 randomly-selected elementary student health folders and attendance records, Weismuller et al. (2007) found that school nurses interact closely with students who have high absences compared to low-absence students—the rate was 75% versus 66%, respectively. This is revealing, especially since there were no referrals mentioned requiring these students who were absent frequently to see the school nurse. Nor were there any school nurse interventions targeted towards attendance, yet the study suggested that school nurses were very much involved with students who had previously identified acute or chronic health conditions (Weismuller et al., 2007).

According to Geierstanger, Amaral, Mansour, and Walters (2004), there is a strong correlation between student attendance (including absenteeism and tardiness) and SBHCs. Students are more likely to attend school if there is an SBHC available, because this provides a margin of health safety and security for the students. It provides them with resources to utilize when they have health concerns, especially on days that they become ill (Geierstanger et al., 2004).

Allen (2003) supported this argument by showing that the presence of school nurses who work full time may decrease the number of children who drop out of school for medical reasons. Allen investigated this by gathering the data related to student absences and student checkouts from 22 schools. The total student population was 10,000 students. The author found that a statistically-significant number of students dropped out of school for other reasons not considered health-related. Also, students who exhibited high absence rates demonstrated a tendency to compare their own academic achievement to that of their peers. This has the potential to lock students into a vicious cycle of substandard academic performance, reduced self-esteem, and physical illness, from which it is difficult to break (Allen, 2003).

Geierstanger et al. (2004) found a correlation between students' absenteeism, academic achievement, and self-esteem. A student who is frequently absent from school because of lack of access to healthcare is also likely to suffer in terms of self-esteem. This is because compared to their peers who have satisfactory attendance rates, learning the missed lessons is challenging for these students (Geierstanger et al., 2004).

Effect on self-esteem. Polkenon (2003) conducted an earlier study that assessed the three self-esteem variables: (a) positive thinking, (b) hope, and (c) resilience. Polkenon emphasized

the importance of self-esteem towards academic achievement. Students who are unable to keep up with their peers with regard to academic achievement are likely to suffer a decrease in selfesteem (Delgash-Pelish, 2006). Delgash-Pelish found that self-esteem is necessary for schoolaged children's overall health. High self-esteem is connected to an enhanced academic performance, better health, and being creative as well as productive individuals. The researcher analyzed the effects of a four-lesson self-esteem enhancement program for 98 5th and 6th grade students who were divided into six groups. The four-lesson program is interactive. The program teaches children what self-esteem is, and how to acquire it. The program also exposes children to diverse media influences, consequences of hiding emotions, and various factors that could result in self-esteem changes.

The study utilized Coopersmith's Self-Esteem Inventory (SEI) to measure the participants' self-esteem before and after the lessons. The study asserted that self-esteem is quicker to change in girls than in boys. Changes in self-esteem were more prevalent for children with friends than those without. Also, the child's socioeconomic status determines his or her self-esteem level, with those children coming from a lower-income family having a decreased level of self-esteem (Delgash-Pelish, 2006).

Self-esteem is a significant factor for academic achievement as well as in life, and it should especially be boosted and maintained while students are still young. If young people are to achieve success in an increasingly competitive global environment, it is necessary that their academic achievement reflect their inherent ability. Students must also possess adequate psychological resources in meeting the challenges life throws at them. Other studies have claimed that this lack of psychological and emotional strength or could lead to the waste and erosion of a person's potential. Studies also show that self-esteem is one important aspect of an individual's social and cognitive development (Berndt, 2002; Pulkkinen, Nygren, & Kokko, 2002; Wigfield, Battle, Keller, & Eccles, 2002).

The level of one's self esteem has significant important effects on academic performance and the overall adjustment of a person in his or her teenage years. There are cross-sectional studies that illustrated the direct relation of self-esteem<u>http://0-</u>

www.sciencedirect.com.lib1000.dlsu.edu.ph/science?_ob=ArticleURL&_udi=B6WM0-4N25VPW-1&_user=688293&_coverDate=12%2F31%2F2007&_alid=1010697756&_rdoc=3&_fmt=high&_orig=sear ch&_cdi=6920&_sort=r&_docanchor=&view=c&_ct=25527&_acct=C000038398&_version=1&_urlVersio n=0&_userid=688293&md5=aedc6c28147062ab71ab093fb471f6ff - hit29 and academic performance (Baumeister, Campbell, Krueger, & Vohs, 2003). The most conclusive evidence can be derived from a large meta-analysis that gives a review of 128 studies by Hansford and Hattie (1982) demonstrating the expected results that self-esteem is indeed positively related with academic achievement and outcomes.

Moreover, there is an undeniable impact of self-esteem on overall adjustment and emotional states of students as well. Low self-esteem is associated with many behavioural and psychological problems. Several studies have suggested that depression, suicidal tendencies, aggression and victimization, delinquency, eating disorders, and low happiness levels are related to low self-esteem (Palmer, 2004; Pelkonen, 2003; Wild et al., 2004).

Similar results with respect to depression were noted by Ralph and Mineka (1998), who also observed that individuals with low self-esteem were less prepared to accommodate good news compared to those with higher self-esteem. As Baumeister et al. (2003) pointed out, not only is there evidence that low self-esteem is prospectively related to emotional states, but low self-esteem also has the ability to "poison the good times." Also, in a study conducted by Aunola, Stattin and Nurmi (2000) where over 1,000 students participated, the researchers

indicated that self-esteem was closely related to the low internalizing problem behaviors and significantly negatively related to parents' reports of adolescents' maladaptive achievement strategies.

Delgash-Pelish (2006) claimed that having a SBHC involved in the school community is one factor that could help break this maladaptive achievement cycle. Healthcare providers are able to collaborate with school faculty members in reaching viable solutions that promote students' self-esteem. This is because SBHCs in this circumstance provide the necessary support the students need physically as well as emotionally to boost their self-esteem (Delgash-Pelish, 2006).

With community cooperation between healthcare providers, faculty, and students, SBHC involvement could potentially improve academic performance and thus increase students' self-esteem. Self-esteem often correlates with their academic performance, particularly when students compare their performance to that of their peers (Delgash-Pelish, 2006). Apart from boosting academic performance by increasing attendance rates and the self-esteem of students, SBHCs are also capable of fostering school connectedness. As mentioned earlier in the Thompson et al. (2006) study, this is another variable that has an effect on increased academic performance.

Effect on school connectedness. McCord et al. (1993) found that SBHCs increased school attendance and reduced dropout rates in socio-economically deprived communities. These findings also revealed that it was the connectedness fostered by SBHCs that actually led to improved academic performance; this is not due to the improved access to services by the families within these communities.

This investigation led to the findings that aside from students being able to access the healthcare they need, the communities have a special sense of interdependence through the

SBHC venue. Community residents work on the same team for the benefit of the community's children by the SBHCs presence (McCord et al., 1993). This led to the improved academic performances of the students living within these communities.

Licata and Harper (1999) examined this sense of connectedness within the school community, and cited the importance of "healthy and robust school systems" (p. 463). This refers not only to the students within the school systems, but to the degree to which the school system functions as a positively contributing element to the community.

In another study, Geierstanger et al. (2004) found that schools with an increased sense of connectedness to their communities demonstrated a higher rate of helping students achieve academic success. This reported increased sense of connection also contributed significantly to health curriculum planning, safety precautions in schools, and strategic planning within school districts. This study suggested that teachers and students who feel connected to their school demonstrate increased instructional quality and significantly improved learning readiness respectively (Geierstanger et al., 2004).

Walker et al. (2009) attempted to examine the effects of SBHCs on the academic performance of high school students by utilizing a very well-controlled longitudinal model. The researchers also attempted to investigate whether there is a difference on the impacts of SBHC medical services from the mental health services. The participants of the study consisted of ninth-grade SBHC users and non-users. The duration of the study was for five school semesters, from the fall of 2005 to the fall of 2007.

Several studies have shown that both high connectedness to family and to school during adolescence are key areas where protective factors for positive educational outcomes and for lower rates of health-risk behaviors can be based (Blum & Libbey, 2004; Glover, Burns, &

Butler, 1998; Libbey, 2004; Resnick, Harris, & Blum, 1993; Resnick, 2000).

Research has further reflected that the students who do not engage extensively with learning or do not build pleasant relationships with their peers and teachers are the ones who are more likely to end up with substance abuse problems. They are community members who would eventually engage in deviant behaviour and socially disruptive activities, show signs of depression, have poorer adult relationships, and dropout from school (Barclay & Doll, 2001; Bond, Carlin, & Thomas, 2001; Bond, Datton, & Glover, 2004; Catalano, Kosterman, & Hawkins, 1996; Marcus & Sanders-Reio, 2000; Resnick, Bearman, & Blum, 1997). Being disconnected from the school is demonstrated as the cause of several and far-reaching potential negative consequences. In particular, Resnick et al. (1997) defined school connectedness as the sense of safety, belongingness, love, and respect an adolescent has while in school. Using a cross-sectional study design to analyze risk and protective factors for eight different health risk outcomes among adolescents, the researchers found that among the eight scenarios, only school connectedness could be identified as the only school-related variable that protected students from every single health risk outcome. This finding was so significant that it encouraged state health departments and school boards to start evaluating how well they are doing in terms of promoting school connectedness, and motivated schools to start monitoring their successive operations in relation to this variable.

Similarly, various studies have also contended that negative school experiences are largely responsible for the feeling of disconnection or alienation for the young (Glover et al., 1998; Nutbeam, Smith, & Moore, 1993; Osterman, 2000; Samdal, Nutbeam, & Wold, 1998). These research studies emphasized the quality of relationships among students and teachers on learning engagement, health, and well-being. Relationships of poor quality led to unhealthy behaviours and experiences such as being bullied or bullying others, hating the teacher, or feeling alienated. These feelings were attributed to poor academic performance, stress, and depression.

Different models explain how school connectedness can influence students to avoid unproductive and unhealthy behaviours. These models have identified aspects of school connectedness that are theoretically important to foster healthy adolescent development. One of these models is the social development model (Hawkins & Weis, 1985). This model posited that as students form a bond with their school, they are more likely to be interested and engaged in school lessons and activities that divert from antisocial and damaging behaviours (Hawkins & Weis, 1985).

School bond refers to the positive relationship a student has with school personnel, commitment to the school activities, and belief in the established norms of that school. Another related model is the social membership model, which posited that students who have higher sense of belongingness in school demonstrate increased academic performance and engagement, as compared to their peers (Battistic & Hom, 1997).

Another useful model is the social support model, which stated that student performance and engagement within a school comes from his or her perception of the support he or she is getting from his or her teachers and peers (Rosenfeld, Richman, & Bowen, 2000). Supportive communication and interaction lead to less uncertainty and increased engagement in school activities. All of these models suggested that SBHCs foster feelings of connectedness between the student and the school. This feeling of connectedness results in a positive impact on the student's academic performance.

Gaps in the Literature

Alternatively, the positive impact of school-related health services on several healthrelated outcomes have been documented in the studies reported here. The above discussion reflects the positive effect of school-based and school-linked health services on the prevention of early pregnancies and other sexual health related problems. The literature also contended that these health services, in conjunction with the school, ease the plight of those students who need medical care for the myriad of health disparities they encounter.

The study participants were compared in terms of their academic outcomes for this period through surveys. The study suggested that SBHC medical users attend classes more often that those who are not medical users. Outcomes also indicated that SBHC mental health services users saw their GPAs increase over time. However, the researchers gathered no significant findings regarding the students' discipline and behaviour (Walker et al., 2009). The results of these studies reflected how SBHCs generally have a positive impact on academic performance, but did not specify which aspect of academic performance improved. However, because these services are school-related, researchers should investigate whether the presence of these services would affect the students they cater to in terms of their academic performance. Although there are some studies that have suggested an indirect link between school-related health services and academic performance, there are very few empirical studies that have examined whether there is a connection between school-related health services such as school-based clinics and schoollinked clinics on the academic performance of the students. Figure 4 illustrates the gap in the literature.



Figure 4. Gaps in the literature.

©2016 C. Samuel

This is supported by the study of Walker et al. (2009). According to Walker et al., this dearth of literature can be accounted for by difficulties in gathering related data due to privacy laws; "Limitations of self-report data for measuring academic outcomes, inability to make conclusive causal statements because of cross-sectional data or limited follow up, and the paucity of research studies that have employed control groups or well-controlled analyses." This study's main purpose was to know if having School-Based Health Clinics (SBHCs) or School-Linked Health Clinics (SLHCs) would have a significantly positive effect on students.

Conclusion

Previous studies on the topic of school-based health clinics (SBHCs) have revealed that school-related health services have an effect on the academic performance of student users, especially if the health services are based within the schools. Furthermore, the benefits of these health programs are not only for the students, but extend to the entire community as well. According to Foy and Hahn (2009), the centers fill a need in the community and the school. SBHCs offer convenience and accessibility by rendering care needed by students in a timely fashion. SBHCs also increase the appropriate utilization of child services, improve immunization rates, and lessen the use of expensive emergency room visits. Asthma care, for example, is enhanced by these school-based centers, thus reducing hospitalizations due to this particular ailment. Moreover, a significant benefit offered by school-based health centers is that they provide access to medical assistance to those children without insurance.

The whole structure of accessibility can be quite unstable, especially since the entire enterprise is state or federally funded, and therefore very vulnerable to state decisions such as healthcare reform and budget cuts. Furthermore, there is still a dearth of studies analyzing the relationship between SBHCs and academic performance. To that end, this current research study was based on extensive school health and child health literature review across diverse educational, sociological, and psychological disciplines. This study investigated the effects of school-based health services on improving academic performance in urban community elementary students. This study assessed these students according to demographic and socioeconomic factors. This study also identified the individuals who serve to benefit from these programs, by determining what SBHC services significantly contribute to students' academic success. This research study assessed how relevant SBHCs are in improving healthcare access in under-served urban school districts.

CHAPTER 3: METHODS

The purpose of the study was to determine if there is a difference in academic performance across schools that have access to school-based health clinics (SBHCs) and those that do not have access to SBHCs. A School-based Health Clinic (SBHC) is an onsite clinic located within the school grounds that provides a comprehensive range of services to students. These onsite clinics become a part of the school community, as healthcare practitioners and others involved strive to become leaders, mentors, and instructors of healthcare, and hope to provide beyond the necessary medical and health services to students with illnesses. SBHCs employ practitioners who provide comprehensive care to students in all different areas of healthcare, including general practitioners such as physicians, nurse practitioners, registered nurses, and physician assistants; mental health specialists such as social workers, alcohol counsellors, and drug counsellors; and other varieties of health professionals (NASBHC, 2008). In Chapter 3, the researcher presents the outline of the research design, the population, the data collection and analysis techniques, and the threats to external and internal validity for the study.

Research Design

The research design of the current study allowed effective comparison through retrospective analysis of students attending schools with access to school-based health clinics (SBHCs) and students attending schools who do not have access to SBHCs. The researcher sought to determine whether students from schools with access to SBHCs would have higher academic performance measures than students from schools that do not have access to SBHCs. To measure the students' academic performance, the researcher compared the GPA scores between students attending schools with access to SBHCs and students attending schools that do not have access to SBHCs. The researcher employed a quantitative, ex post facto comparative, retrospective cohort research design. The researcher collected historical data related to academic achievement and SBHCs through a district database.

The quantitative ex post facto design was appropriate for this study, since the objective was to determine whether there are differences between two types of schools when it comes to academic achievement. The schools were those with access to SBHCs and those without access to SBHCs. With the ex post facto design, the levels or categories for the independent variable were already defined or classified, so the researcher did not have the ability to manipulate or randomly assign individuals to certain groups. In the context of social and educational research, retrospective studies use ex post facto research, in which researchers assess cause-and-effect relationships using existing conditions or state of affairs (Cohen et al., 2000). Ex post facto researchers look back in time to determine any possible causes for the particular outcomes of interest. Additionally, the ex post facto design is appropriate when the events or treatments have already occurred and cannot be manipulated by the researcher (Cohen et al., 2000). The schools with access to SBHCs and without access to SBHCs are already present and, therefore, cannot be manipulated by the researcher, making the ex post facto research design the most appropriate for the current study.

The researcher used a quantitative research method for the study rather than a qualitative design, because with a qualitative design the researcher could not assess a direct relationship between two variables as result of the open-ended questions (Creswell, 2009). The responses received, based on the questions asked, were interpreted and coded to identify trends or themes in the responses of qualitative research designs. Moreover, qualitative research addresses different questions, such as the *how* and *why* questions of research (Yin, 2003). This was not the

44

purpose of the study. The purpose of the study was to determine if there is a difference in academic performance across schools that have access to SBHCs and those that do not have access to SBHCs. Figure 5 illustrates the study's methodology.



©2016 C. Samuel

Figure 5. Quantitative, ex-post-facto, causal comparative, retrospective cohort research design.

Research Questions

The following research questions guided this study:

RQ1: Is there a relationship between SBHC use, SBHC non-use, and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

RQ1A: Is there a relationship between SBHC use and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

RQ1B: Is there a relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

RQ2: Is there a relationship between primary services offered by SBHCs (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ

ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

RQ2A: Is there a relationship between the primary service "Physicals" offered by SBHCs and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grade 3, 4, and 5?

RQ2B: Is there a relationship between the primary service "Immunizations" offered by SBHCs and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grade 3, 4, and 5?

RQ2C: Is there a relationship between the primary service "Mental Health" offered by SBHC and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grade 3, 4, and 5?

RQ3: Is there a difference in academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJASK scores, and LAL scores) between SBHC Users and SBHC Non-users, across grades 3, 4, and 5?

RQ4: Is there a difference in academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJASK scores, and LAL scores) between primary SBHC services used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and primary SBHC services not used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health), across grades 3, 4, and 5?

Hypotheses

To assess the research questions, the researcher posed the following hypotheses. The hypotheses include null and alternative hypotheses. The null and alternative hypothesis for the study, based on the research question stated previously, is as follows:

Ho1: There is no relationship between SBHC use, SBHC non-use, and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across

grades 3, 4, and 5.

H_A**1:** There is a relationship between SBHC use, SBHC non-use, and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5.

HolA: There is no relationship between SBHC use and academic performance.

HA1A: There is a relationship between SBHC use and academic performance.

HolB: There is no relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance.

H_A1B: There is a relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance.

H₀**2:** There is no relationship between primary services offered by SBHCS (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5.

H_A**2:** There is a relationship between primary services offered by SBHCS (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5.

H₀**2A:** There is no relationship between the primary service "Physicals" and academic performance.

HA2A: There is a relationship between the primary service "Physicals" and academic performance.

H₀2B: There is no relationship between the primary service "Immunizations" and

academic performance.

H_A**2B**: There is a relationship between the primary service "Immunizations" and academic performance.

H₀**2C:** There is no relationship between the primary service "Mental Health" and academic performance.

H_A**2C:** There is a relationship between the primary service "Mental Health" and academic performance.

H₀**3:** There is no difference in academic performance between SBHC users and SBHC non-users across grades 3,4, and 5.

H_A**3:** There is a difference in academic performance between SBHC users and SBHC non-users across grades 3,4, and 5.

Ho4: There is no difference in academic performance between primary SBHC services used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and primary SBHC services not used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health), across grades 3, 4, and 5?

 H_{A4} : There is a difference in academic performance between primary SBHC services used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and primary SBHC services not used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health), across grades 3, 4, and 5?

Population

The population for the study were students in the Newark Public School District (NPS) who were currently enrolled in a public school having access to SBHCs. Schools that have SBHCs employ practitioners who provide comprehensive care to students in all different areas of healthcare, including general practitioners such as physicians, nurse practitioners, registered

nurses, and physician assistants; mental health specialists such as social workers, alcohol counsellors, and drug counsellors; and other varieties of health professionals (NASBHC, 2008). The researcher selected a sample of students attending a school that has access to SBHCs. The researcher compared the academic achievement scores between students who use the SBHC and students not using the SBHC to determine if there was a statistically-significant difference academically. The students assessed in the study were from a school having similar methods for calculating the students' GPA, and which used the same tests to measure academic achievement throughout the NPS.

The researcher contacted the Director of Student Health Services and the CEO of Jewish Renaissance who oversees all SBHCs in the NPS to determine if they would be willing to allow the researcher to use the school databases. Students were identified as being either a SBHC user or a non-SBHC user. The researcher sampled one school with access to a SBHC.

The researcher used a cross-sectional convenience sampling plan to collect information for the study. The researcher chose a cross-sectional sampling plan because the researcher collected data on a single occasion or during a short time span (Hulley, 2007). The researcher used a convenience sampling plan to gather information from the school. In convenience sampling, researchers select participants based on ease-of-access, proximity, and willingness to participate in the study (Urdan, 2005, p. 3). The researcher collected historical data related to student achievement measurements from the students attending the school. A potential limitation to convenience sampling was that the sample obtained for the study may not have been representative of the entire population; however, if the convenience sample does not differ from the target population, then the convenience sampling plan is an acceptable way of selecting the participants for the study (Urdan, 2005). The researcher selected a school that was representative of the target population for the current study in terms of demographic and social characteristics.

Data Collection

The researcher sampled one school tracking a group of students longitudinally over a three year time frame from grade three through grade five. The researcher compared academic performance between students using the SBHC and students not using the SBHC. The researcher collected data on an individual or student level. The researcher recorded individual academic achievement scores from the database. The researcher identified each student as either being a SBHC user or SBHC non-user. The researcher received databases from the NPS Student Information department and the CEO of Jewish Renaissance.

The researcher informed NPS and Jewish Renaissance the purpose of the study, as well as the potential benefits the study may have in the academic environment. The researcher also specified that any information collected from the database would remain confidential, and that she would use no personal or identifying information. All parties agreed to the terms of the study, and IRB submitted by the researcher from Seton Hall University and NPS. Once the IRB was approved by Seton Hall University and NPS, the researcher gained access to the school's SBHC and academic database.

The researcher collected information regarding demographics and academic achievement from the school database, and imported this data into an Excel spreadsheet. Each row in the spreadsheet identified an individual student from the school, while each column represented the demographic characteristics, SBHC services used, final grades, and academic achievement scores for each student as per the New Jersey Assessment of Skills and Knowledge (NJ ASK) and Language Arts Literacy (LAL). The researcher identified the students as either being SBHC users or non-users along with their final grades, and academic performance results on their respective achievement tests.

The researcher stored the electronic-based material on a password-protected computer, which only the researcher may access. This assured the confidentiality of the schools selected for the study. The researcher placed the SBHC information jump drive in a locked filing cabinet. The information collected for the study will remain on file for a period of 5 years, after which the researcher will destroy it. The researcher will permanently delete all electronic-based material from the hard drive, and will shred paper-based material in a paper shredder. Figure 6 illustrates the data collection and analysis steps that the researcher

took.



Figure 6. Data collection and analysis steps.

Operationalization of Variables

Academic achievement. Academic achievement was the dependent variable of the study.

The researcher operationalized academic achievement as a continuous interval level variable

across grade levels. The researcher measured the academic achievement for the students using the students' final grades/grade point average (GPA) scores. The GPA will be based on the overall student average for all the classes the students have taken.

FINAL GRADES/GPA-Grades received at the end of the school year in June averaged from all 4 marking periods.

NJ ASK-The New Jersey Assessment of Skills and Knowledge is a standardized test administered to all New Jersey public-schooled students in grades 3-8 during (usually) March, April, or May, and is administered by the New Jersey Department of Education.

LANGUAGE ARTS LITERACY (LAL)-A standardized test measuring students comprehension level, and ability to read and write.

School-based health clinic. The SBHC was the independent variable of the study. The researcher operationalized it as a dichotomous level variable. It had two distinct categories or groups of students. The two groups included students that use SBHCs and students that do not use SBHCs. Those students using SBHCs were assigned a value of 1 for analysis purposes, while students that do not use SBHCs were assigned a value of 0 for analysis purposes.

Data Analysis

The researcher conducted analysis for the study in SPSS Version 16.0[®]. The researcher used a Spearman's Rho correlation analysis and mixed MANOVA tests to determine if there is a difference between academic achievement of students from schools that have access to SBHCs and students from schools that do not have access to SBHCs. The MANOVA was appropriate to address the hypothesis of the study, because the purpose of an MANOVA is to determine if the independent variable significantly explains the variation in the dependent variables (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). The independent variable for the study was students using SBHCs and students

not using SBHCs. The dependent variable was the students' academic achievement, as measured by the students' GPA/final grades, NJ ASK and LAL across grades three through five.

If there was a significant difference between the groups, to determine how students using SBHCs and students not using SBHCs differed from one another, the researcher would have conducted a post hoc test. The post hoc test would be based on a *t*-statistic. The direction of the difference in academic achievement for students using SBHCs and students not SBHCs would depend on the sign of the test statistic. A positive statistic would indicate that students using SBHCs have higher academic achievement than students not using SBHCs, while a negative statistic would indicate the opposite.

External and Internal Validity

In this section of the report, the researcher describes the research methods chosen to evaluate the above hypotheses. For the evaluation of the research methods, the researcher considered four factors. These included the internal validity's strengths and weaknesses, and the external validity's strengths and weaknesses.

Validity illustrates the accurate nature of the study relating to the variables of significance (Vogt, 2007). Valid methodological approaches are those that accurately measure the variable or variables under investigation in a manner that can apply to comparable situations (Cooper & Schindler, 2003). In contrast, external validity refers to the outcome when the instrument measures like groups (Neuman & Neuman, 2003). The sections to follow explore the external and internal validity as it related to the current study.

Neuman and Neuman (2003) discussed an array of challenges related to internal validity, including testing and selection bias, maturation challenges, environmental changes, subject mortality, statistical regression, treatment difficulties, compensation issues, and researcher bias.

The current research was a quantitative study, which was better suited than a qualitative study on the basis that internal validity is greatly improved in a quantitative research design. This is because the internal validity of the study refers to the ability to draw cause and affect relationships between two variables (Singh, 2007). Similarly, an explanatory or descriptive quantitative design provides a higher degree of internal validity than an exploratory quantitative design.

Because the study was not a true experimental study, the internal validity is reduced to a certain extent. This is because the researcher was not able to determine directly whether the independent variable caused a change in the dependent variable. This is because the researcher was unable to randomly select or assign participants to specific groups for comparison purposes (Cooper & Schindler, 2003). The groups the students belonged to were already determined based on whether their school had access or did not have access to SBHCs.

External validity references the ability to apply research findings to differing environments or research samples (Cooper & Schindler, 2003; Neuman & Neuman, 2003). Problems associated with external validity are, practicality of experiment, correspondence with existing conditions and settings (Cooper & Schindler, 2003). The sample size from the school that the researcher obtained for the study made the sample more representative of the entire target population of students. The students selected for the study were from a school that has similar methods for calculating the students' GPA. One disadvantage was that only one school from a single school district was used in the study. For this reason, results may not be generalizable to other schools in other school districts.

Summary

The purpose of the study was to determine if there is a relationship in academic

performance between students that use school-based health clinics (SBHCs) and those that do not use SBHCs. The research design of the study allowed the researcher to effectively examine students who use school-based health clinics (SBHCs) and students who do not use SBHCs. The researcher used a quantitative ex post facto design. The quantitative ex post facto design was appropriate for this study, since the objective was to determine whether there are relationships and/or differences between SBHC users and non-users when it comes to academic achievement. With the ex post facto design the levels or categories for the independent variable were already defined or classified, so the researcher did not have the ability to manipulate or randomly assign individuals to certain groups.

The population for the study were students who were currently enrolled in a school within NPS that have access to a SBHC. The researcher received a sample of students enabling a longitudinal study of the same cohort of students over a three year period across grades three through five. The researcher compared the students' academic achievement scores between SBHC users and non-users to determine if there was a statistically-significant correlation and difference across grade levels. The researcher received data from a school that uses the same tests measuring academic achievement district wide for the study.

The researcher sampled students from one school that has access to a SBHC comparing academic performance between students who use the SBHC and those who do not use the SBHC. The researcher collected data on an individual or student level. The researcher recorded individual academic achievement scores from the database, and used a mixed analysis of variance (MANOVA) to determine if there is a difference between academic achievement of students using SBHCs and those not using SBHCs across grades three through five. The researcher determined the significance of the relationship between the independent and dependent variable by an *F*-statistic (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). If the *F*-statistic exceeded the critical value, at the .05 level of significance, the researcher concluded that the independent variable of students who use SBHCs and students that do not use SBHCs significantly explains the variation in academic achievement. If there was a significant difference between the student cohort, to determine how students that use SBHCs and students do not use SBHCs differed from one another, the researcher would have conducted a post hoc test. The researcher presents the results of the Spearman's Rho and MANOVA tests used to address the hypothesis of the study in Chapter 4.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

The purpose of this quantitative research was to determine whether the use of onsite SBHC in a public school would impact academic performance of students. The main independent variable (IV) of this study is SBHC use, as well as the specific SBHC uses of SBHC Physicals, SBHC Immunizations, and SBHC Mental Health Counselling. The dependent variables (DV) of this study were the forms of academic outcome variables: the average final grades (2010-2011, 2011-2012, and 2012-2013), and the average New Jersey Assessment of Skills and Knowledge (NJ ASK) test results (2011, 2012 (Math and Language Arts Literacy (LAL) only), and 2013 (Math and LAL only). The moderating variables for this study were the demographic variables of gender, ethnicity, and age. The researcher performed a Spearman's Rho correlation test, and a mixed analysis of variance (MANOVA) tests to analyze the collected data in relation to the research questions and their respective hypotheses. This chapter presents the statistical test results and analysis.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: Is there a relationship between SBHC use, SBHC non-use, and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

H₀**1:** There is no relationship between SBHC use, SBHC non-use, and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5.

H_A**1:** There is a relationship between SBHC use, SBHC non-use, and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across

grades 3, 4, and 5.

RQ1A: Is there a relationship between SBHC use and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

H₀1A: There is no relationship between SBHC use and academic performance.

H_A1A: There is a relationship between SBHC use and academic performance.

RQ1B: Is there a relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

H₀1B: There is no relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance.

H_A1B: There is a relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance.

RQ2: Is there a relationship between primary services offered by SBHCs (physicals,

immunizations, and mental health) and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

H₀**2:** There is no relationship between primary services offered by SBHCS (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5.

H_A**2:** There is a relationship between primary services offered by SBHCS (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5.

RQ2A: Is there a relationship between the primary service "Physicals" offered by SBHCs and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grade 3, 4, and 5?

H₀**2A:** There is no relationship between the primary service "Physicals" and academic performance.

H_A**2A**: There is a relationship between the primary service "Physicals" and academic performance.

RQ2B: Is there a relationship between the primary service "Immunizations" offered by SBHCs and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grade 3, 4, and 5?

H₀**2B:** There is no relationship between the primary service "Immunizations" and academic performance.

H_A**2B:** There is a relationship between the primary service "Immunizations" and academic performance.

RQ2C: Is there a relationship between the primary service "Mental Health" offered by SBHC and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grade 3, 4, and 5?

H₀**2C:** There is no relationship between the primary service "Mental Health" and academic performance.

H_A**2C:** There is a relationship between the primary service "Mental Health" and academic performance.

RQ3: Is there a difference in academic performance (as measured by final grades,

NJASK scores, and LAL scores) between SBHC Users and SBHC Non-users, across grades 3, 4, and 5?

H₀**3:** There is no difference in academic performance between SBHC users and SBHC non-users across grades 3,4, and 5.

H_A**3:** There is a difference in academic performance between SBHC users and SBHC non-users across grades 3,4, and 5.

RQ4: Is there a difference in academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJASK scores, and LAL scores) between primary SBHC services used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and primary SBHC services not used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health), across grades 3, 4, and 5?

Ho4: There is no difference in academic performance between primary SBHC services used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and primary SBHC services not used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health), across grades 3, 4, and 5?

H_{A4}: There is a difference in academic performance between primary SBHC services used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and primary SBHC services not used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health), across grades 3, 4, and 5?

Description of the Sample

The sample participants are urban elementary school students enrolled in a public school with an onsite SBHC. These students begin as third graders tracked through the fifth grade (2010-2011 = third graders, 2011-2012 = fourth graders, and 2012-2013 = fifth graders). Initially, there were a total of 48 students for the sample. Several students had missing data with regards to the final grades and NJ ASK test results and were filtered out. After the data cleaning, the final sample size was 30 students. In this section, the researcher presents the descriptive statistics of the samples.

Table 1 and Figure 7 present the descriptive statistics of the continuous variables for the sample. The continuous variables consisted of the average age of the samples, the DVs of average final grades and NJ ASK test results average scores. Average age of the samples from 2011 to 2013 ranged from 10 to 12 years old, with a mean of 10.33 (SD = 0.61). Average final grade of school year 2010-2011 ranged from 38.80 to 93.80, with a mean of 77.42 (SD = 12.00).
Average final grade of school year 2011-2012 ranged from 46.50 to 92.25, with a mean of 73.12 (SD = 11.09). Average final grade of school year 2012-2013 ranged from 31.50 to 93.38, with a mean of 71.40 (SD = 13.04). Average of 2011 NJ ASK test results ranged from 104.50 to 254, with a mean of 172.22 (SD = 29.35). Average of 2012 NJ ASK test results for Math and LAL ranged from 130.50 to 240.50, with a mean of 173.00 (SD = 26.13). Average of 2013 NJ ASK test results for Math and LAL ranged from 130.50 to 240.50, with a mean of 173.00 (SD = 26.13). Average of 2013 NJ ASK test results for Math and LAL ranged from 130.50 to 240.50, with a mean of 172.30 (SD = 27.10). From the NJ ASK guidelines, the proficiency of students are grouped into three categories: a.) advanced proficient: 250-300, b.) proficient: 200-249, and c.) partially proficient: 100-199. The mean NJ ASK scores using the average of Math and LAL indicate that the students are partially proficient. Attendance of the students in 2010-2011 ranged from 82 to 185 days, with an average of 165.67 days (SD = 19.69). Attendance of the students in 2011-2012 ranged from 150 to 185 days, with an average of 174.86 days (SD = 9.22). Attendance of the students in 2012-2013 ranged from 110 to 184 days, with an average of 171.31 days (SD = 14.20).

Table 1

	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
Average age (2011-2013)	10.00	12.00	10.3333	.60648
Average final grade 2010-2011	38.80	93.80	77.4200	11.99648
Average final grade 2011-2012	46.50	92.25	73.1167	11.08718
Average final grade 2012-2013	31.50	93.38	71.4042	13.04380
2011 NJ ASK test results average	104.50	254.00	172.2167	29.34623
2012 NJ ASK test results average (Math and	130.50	240.50	173.0000	26.13394
LAL)				
2013 NJ ASK test results average (Math and	113.50	245.50	172.3000	27.10344
LAL)				
2010-2011 Attendance	82.00	185.00	164.67	19.688
2011-2012 Attendance	150.00	185.00	174.8621	9.21848
2012-2013 Attendance	110.00	184.00	171.3125	14.19875



Figure 7. Descriptive statistics of student cohort.

The categorical variables consisted of the demographic variables of gender and ethnicity, and the SBHC use, as well as the specific SBHC use in the categories of physicals, immunizations, and mental health counselling. The samples consisted of 60% males (n = 18),

and 40% females (n = 12). Ethnicity of the samples were 73.3% (n = 22) Black, and 26.7% (n = 12).

8) Hispanic.

Table 2

Frequency Table of Gender

	Frequency	Percent
Male	18	60.0
Female	12	40.0
Total	30	100.0

Frequency Table of Ethnicity

	Frequency	Percent
Black	22	73.3
Hispanic	8	26.7
Total	30	100.0

Throughout the years of 2010 to 2013, 40% (n = 12) of the samples did not access the onsite SBHC of the school, while 60% (n = 18) accessed the onsite SBHC. Specifically, 60% (n = 18) of the students availed of SBHC physicals, 40% (n = 12) availed of SBHC immunizations, and 43.3% (n = 13) availed of SBHC mental health counselling.

Table 4

Frequency Table of SBHC Access

	Frequency	Percent
Did not avail	12	40.0
Availed	18	60.0
Total	30	100.0

Table 5

Frequency Table of Specific SBHC Access

	SBHC Ph	ysicals	SBHC Immunizations		SBHC Mental Health Counselling	
	Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent
Did not	12	40.0	18	60.0	17	56.7
avail						
Availed	18	60.0	12	40.0	13	43.3
Total	30	100.0	30	100.0	30	100.0



Figure 8. Demographic frequency analysis of student cohort.



Figure 9. Frequency analysis of SBHC services for student cohort.

The researcher conducted chi-square goodness of fit tests for the categorical independent variables of SBHC access, and the specific SBHC uses of SBHC Physicals, SBHC

Immunizations, and SBHC Mental Health Counselling. The results are presented in Table 6. Results of the chi-square goodness of fit tests show that the test statistics for each variable is statistically a weak positive (p > 0.05). There are weak positive statistically significant differences in availing and not availing SBHC for all categories.

Table 6

Chi-square Goodness of Fit Test for Categorical Independent Variables

	SBHC use	SBHC Physicals	SBHC Immunizations	SBHC Mental
				Health Counseling
Chi-Square	1.200	1.200	1.200	.533
Df	1	1	1	1
Asymp. Sig.	.273	.273	.273	.465

Tests of Normality

The researcher examined the assumption of normality of data for the continuous dependent variables of: average grade 2010-2011, average grade 2011-2012, average grade 2012-2013, 2011 NJ ASK test results average, 2012 NJ ASK test results (Math + LAL) average, and 2013 NJ ASK test results (Math + LAL) average. Table 7 presents the Shapiro-Wilk's test for normality results of these variables. As observed, with the exception of average final grade 2010-2011 (p = 0.001), data of the dependent variables were found to be normally distributed. Repeated measures MANOVA however, is robust to the violation of non-normality (Howell, 2002).

Shapiro-Wilk's Test for Normality

	S	hapiro-Will	k
	Statistic	Df	Sig.
Average final grade 2010-2011	.853	30	.001
Average final grade 2011-2012	.966	30	.432
Average final grade 2012-2013	.953	30	.203
2011 NJ ASK test results average	.948	30	.146
2012 NJ ASK test results average (Math and LAL)	.953	30	.198
2013 NJ ASK test results average (Math and LAL)	.983	30	.896

Results of the Statistical Tests

This study addressed four research questions. The first research question examined whether there is a statistically significant relationship between the use of SBHC, non-use of SBHC, and the students' academic outcomes. The second research question examined whether there is a statistically significant relationship between the use of specific SBHC services (physicals, immunizations, and mental health counselling) and the students' academic outcomes. The third research question examined whether there was a difference in academic performance between SBHC users and SBHC non-users. The fourth research question asked whether there was a difference in academic performance among services that students used and services that students did not use. The study considered two academic outcomes for the students, the first is the average of final grades, and the second is the NJ ASK test results. Due to limitations in data, the NJ ASK test results accounted only for Math and LAL subjects. Upon analysis of the retrospective data, there was incomplete data recorded for SBHC use for the 2011-2012 school year; thus, the researcher could not establish a correlation for the grade 4 data. The researcher only used data from grades 3 and 5.

Research Question 1

The researcher tested Research Question 1 through Spearman's Rho analysis. The subhypotheses of RQ1, RQ1A and RQ1B, examined whether SBHC use and non-use, respectively, affected students' academic performance.

RQ1A. The results of the Spearman's correlation analysis regarding SBHC use and academic performance are found in Table 8. The correlations were not significant at the .05 level; thus, the researcher did not reject the null hypothesis. There is no statistically significant relationship between SBHC use and academic performance.

Table 8

		Final1011	NJASK1011	
SBHC1011	Correlation	246	117	
(Grade 3)	Sig.	.236	.576	
		Final1213	NJASK1213	
SBHC1213	Correlation	091	214	
SBHC1213	Correlation	091	214	

Spearman's Rho Analysis for SBHC Use

RQ1B. The results of the Spearman's correlation analysis regarding SBHC use and academic performance are found in Table 9. The correlations were not significant at the .05 level; thus, the researcher did not reject the null hypothesis. There is no statistically significant relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance.

Table 9

Spearman's Rho Analysis for SBHC Non-Use

		Final1011	NJASK1011	
SBHC1011 Non	Correlation	246	117	
(Grade 3)	Sig.	.236	.576	
		Final1213	NJASK1213	
SBHC1213 Non	Correlation	091	214	

Research Question 2

RQ2A. The first sub-hypothesis of Research Question 2 was to determine whether the use of SBHC, specifically for physicals, had a statistically significant impact on the students' academic outcomes. The results of the Spearman's correlation analysis indicated that there was no correlation between physicals and final grades as well as NJ ASK scores, as seen in Table 10. Thus, the researcher did not reject the null hypothesis.

Table 10

spearman's Kno Mi	iaiysi s jor i nysicais vs	. Actual mil Terjor mar	<i>i</i> i e
		Final1011	NJASK1011
Physicals (3)	Correlation	246	117
	Sig.	.236	.576
		Final1213	NJASK1213
Physicals (5)	Correlation	091	214
	Sig.	.665	.303

Spearman's Rho Analysis for Physicals vs. Acade mic Perfor mance

RQ2B. The second sub-hypothesis of Research Question 2 was to determine whether the use of SBHC, specifically for immunizations, had a statistically significant impact on the students' academic outcomes. The researcher conducted a Spearman's Rho analysis to determine the impact of SBHC Immunizations use on the students' average final grades across three time periods (2010-2011, 2011-2012, and 2012-2013). Table 11 presents the results of this analysis. Table 11

Spearman's Rho Analysis for Immunization vs. Academic Performance

		Final1011	NJASK1011	
Immun (3)	Correlation	.208	.187	
	Sig.	.318	.370	
	· -	Final1213	NJASK1213	
Immun (5)	Correlation	171	- 196	
minum (5)	Conciation	.1/1	170	
	Sig.	.414	.347	

The results of the Spearman's correlation analysis indicated that there was a weak positive

relationship between Immunizations and academic performance. Thus, the researcher did not reject the null hypothesis. As such, SBHC use, specifically SBHC Immunizations, has a weak positive statistically significant impact on students' academic outcome of average NJ ASK test results.

RQ2C. The third sub-hypothesis of Research Question 2 was to determine whether the use of SBHC, specifically for mental health counselling, had statistically significant impact on the students' academic outcomes. The researcher conducted a Spearman's Rho correlation analysis to determine the impact of SBHC Mental Health Counselling use on the students' average final grades. Table 12 presents the results of this part of the analysis. The results of the Spearman's correlation analysis indicated that there was a weak negative relationship between Mental Health and Academic Performance for the cohort of students in grade 3. Thus, based on these results, the researcher did not reject the null hypothesis for RQ2C. Table 12

Spearman's Rho Analysis for Mental Health vs. Academic Performance

		Final1011	NJASK1011
Mental (3)	Correlation	358	133
	Sig.	.079	.526

Research Question 3

The researcher used a mixed multiple analysis of variance (MANOVA) to address Research Question 3, which investigated whether there was a statistically significant difference in the academic performance between SBHC users and SBHC non-users across grade levels. The mixed MANOVA used the combined dependent variables of final grades for grades 3, 4, and 5, and the NJ ASK scores for grades 3, 4, and 5. The researcher conducted Levene's and Box's tests to satisfy the assumptions for homogeneity and variance-covariance normality in order to use mixed MANOVA. The results of the MANOVA are found in Tables 13 and 14. The results of the MANOVA indicated that there was no statistically significant difference between SBHC services and academic performance; thus, the null hypothesis for Research Question 3 was not rejected.

Table 13

SBHC Services vs. Academic Performance – Wilks Lambda

							Partial
Effe et		Walua	E	46	Emon df	C :~	ETA
SBHC1011	Pillai's Trace	.119	383b	6.000	17.000	.880	.119
	Wilk's Lambda	.881	.383b	6.000	17.000	.880	.119
	Hotelling's Trace	.135	.383b	6.000	17.000	.880	.119
	Roy's Largest Root	.135	.383b	6.000	17.000	.880	.119
SBHC1213	Pillai's Trace	.152	.510b	6.000	17.000	.793	.152
	Wilk's Lambda	.848	.510b	6.000	17.000	.793	.152
	Hotelling's Trace	.180	.510b	6.000	17.000	.793	.152
	Roy's Largest Root	.180	.510b	6.000	17.000	.793	.152
SBHC1011*	Pillai's	0.000	.b	0.000	0.000		
SBHC1213	Trace						
	Wilk's Lambda	1.000	.b	0.000	19.500		
	Hotelling's Trace	0.000	.b	0.000	2.000		
	Roy's Largest Root	0.000	.000b	6.000	16.000	1.000	0.000

		Type III					Partial
		sum of		Mean			ETA
Source		squares	Df	square	F	Sig.	squared
SBHC1011	Final1011	46.090	1	46.090	.432	.518	.019
	Final1112	3.122	1	3.122	.025	.876	.001
	Final1213	.520	1	.520	.005	.945	.000
	NJASK1011	329.285	1	329.285	.438	.515	.020
	NJASK1112	320.469	1	320.469	.416	.526	.019
	NJASK1213	608.900	1	608.900	.818	.376	.036
SBHC1213	Final1011	119.349	1	119.349	1.120	.301	.048
	Final1112	172.530	1	172.530	1.372	.254	.059
	Final1213	40.513	1	40.513	.385	.541	.017
	NJASK1011	542.881	1	542.881	.723	.404	.032
	NJASK1112	38.095	1	38.095	.049	.826	.002
	NJASK1213	150.482	1	150.482	.202	.657	.009
SBHC1011	Final1011	0.000	0		_		0.000
SBHC1213	Final1112	0.000	0				0.000
	Final1213	0.000	0			_	0.000
	NJASK1011	0.000	0			_	0.000
	NJASK1112	0.000	0				0.000
	NJASK1213	0.000	0				0.000

SBHC Services vs. Academic Performance – Mixed MANOVA

Research Question 4

Research Question 4 investigated whether there was a statistically significant difference in the academic performance of users of primary SBHC services and non-users of primary SBHC services across grade levels. To address this research question, the researcher used a mixed multiple analysis of variance (MANOVA) using the combined dependent variables of final grades and NJ ASK scores for grades 3, 4, and 5. Again, the researcher satisfied assumptions for homogeneity and variance-covariance normality using the Levene's and Box's tests, respectively. Tables 15-20 show the results of the mixed MANOVA tests regarding the variables of physicals, immunizations, and mental health in relation to academic outcomes. The results of the mixed MANOVA tests indicated that the dependent variables differed slightly with respect to usage of mental health services for grade 3; thus, the researcher did not reject the null hypothesis for Research Question 4.

Table 15

Physicals Usage vs. Academic Performance – Wilk's Lambda

Effort		Value	F	Df	Emon df	Sia	Partial ETA
Ellect		value	Г	DI	Ellor ul	Sig.	squareu
Phys1011	Pillai's Trace	.119	.383b	6.000	17.000	.880	.119
	Wilk's Lambda	.881	.383b	6.000	17.000	.880	.119
	Hotelling's Trace	.135	.383b	6.000	17.000	.880	.119
	Roy's Largest Root	.135	.383b	6.000	17.000	.880	.119
Phys1213	Pillai's Trace	.152	.510b	6.000	17.000	.793	.152
	Wilk's Lambda	.848	.510b	6.000	17.000	.793	.152
	Hotelling's Trace	.180	.510b	6.000	17.000	.793	.152
	Roy's Largest Root	.180	.510b	6.000	17.000	.793	.152
Phys1011*	Pillai's						
Phys1213	Trace						
•	Wilk's						
	Lambda						
	Hotelling's						
	Trace						
	Roy's						
	Largest						
	Root						

	Type III					Partial
	sum of		Mean			ETA
	squares	Df	square	F	Sig.	squared
Final1011	46.090	1	46.090	.432	.518	.019
Final1112	3.122	1	3.122	.025	.876	.001
Final1213	.520	1	.520	.005	.945	.000
NJASK1011	329.285	1	329.285	.438	.515	.020
NJASK1112	320.469	1	320.469	.416	.526	.019
NJASK1213	608.900	1	608.900	.818	.376	.036
Final1011	119.349	1	119.349	1.120	.301	.048
Final1112	172.530	1	172.530	1.372	.254	.059
Final1213	40.513	1	40.513	.385	.541	.017
NJASK1011	542.881	1	542.881	.723	.404	.032
NJASK1112	38.095	1	38.095	.049	.826	.002
NJASK1213	150.482	1	150.482	.202	.657	.009
Final1011	•					
Final1112						
Final1213						
NJASK1011						
NJASK1112						
NJASK1213						
	Final1011 Final1112 Final1213 NJASK1011 NJASK1011 NJASK1213 Final1011 Final1112 Final1213 NJASK1011 NJASK1011 Final1112 Final1213 NJASK1011 NJASK1011 NJASK1112 NJASK1112 NJASK1213	Type III sum of squares Final1011 46.090 Final1112 3.122 Final1213 .520 NJASK1011 329.285 NJASK1011 329.285 NJASK1112 320.469 NJASK1213 608.900 Final1011 119.349 Final1112 172.530 Final1213 40.513 NJASK1011 542.881 NJASK1011 542.881 NJASK1112 38.095 NJASK1213 150.482 Final1011 Final1112 Final1112 JS0.482 Final1112 NJASK1213 NJASK1011 NJASK1011 NJASK1011 NJASK1011 NJASK1011 NJASK1112 NJASK1112 NJASK1213	Type III sum of squares Df Final1011 46.090 1 Final1011 46.090 1 Final1112 3.122 1 Final1213 .520 1 NJASK1011 329.285 1 NJASK1112 320.469 1 NJASK1112 320.469 1 NJASK1213 608.900 1 Final1011 119.349 1 Final1112 172.530 1 Final1213 40.513 1 NJASK1011 542.881 1 NJASK1011 542.881 1 NJASK1112 38.095 1 NJASK1213 150.482 1 Final1011	Type III sum of Mean squares Df square Final1011 46.090 1 46.090 Final1112 3.122 1 3.122 Final1112 3.122 1 3.122 Final1112 3.122 1 3.122 Final1213 .520 1 .520 NJASK1011 329.285 1 329.285 NJASK1112 320.469 1 320.469 NJASK1213 608.900 1 608.900 Final1011 119.349 1 119.349 Final1112 172.530 1 172.530 Final1112 172.530 1 172.530 Final1112 172.530 1 172.530 Final1213 40.513 1 40.513 NJASK1011 542.881 1 542.881 NJASK1112 38.095 1 38.095 NJASK1011	Type III sum of Mean squares Df square F Final1011 46.090 1 46.090 .432 Final1112 3.122 1 3.122 .025 Final1112 3.122 1 3.122 .025 Final1213 .520 1 .520 .005 NJASK1011 329.285 1 329.285 .438 NJASK1112 320.469 1 320.469 .416 NJASK1112 320.469 1 320.469 .416 NJASK1213 608.900 1 608.900 .818 Final1011 119.349 1 119.349 1.120 Final1112 172.530 1 .372 Final1213 40.513 1 40.513 .385 NJASK1011 542.881 .723 .049 .049 NJASK1213 150.482 1 150.482 .202 Final1011	Type III sum of Mean squares Df square F Sig. Final1011 46.090 1 46.090 .432 .518 Final1112 3.122 1 3.122 .025 .876 Final1113 .520 1 .520 .005 .945 NJASK1011 329.285 1 329.285 .438 .515 NJASK1112 320.469 1 320.469 .416 .526 NJASK1112 320.469 1 320.469 .416 .526 NJASK1213 608.900 1 608.900 .818 .376 Final1011 119.349 1 119.349 1.120 .301 Final1112 172.530 1 .372 .254 Final1112 40.513 1 40.513 .385 .541 NJASK1011 542.881 1 542.881 .723 .404 NJASK1112 38.095 1 38.

Physicals Usage vs. Academic Performance – Mixed MANOVA

Immunizations vs. Academic Performance – Wilk's Lambda

							Partial ETA
Effect		Value	F	Df	Error df	Sig.	squared
Vac1011	Pillai's Trace	.127	.412b	6.000	17.000	.861	.127
	Wilk's Lambda	.873	.412b	6.000	17.000	.861	.127
	Hotelling's Trace	.146	.412b	6.000	17.000	.861	.127
	Roy's Largest Root	.143	.412b	6.000	17.000	.861	.127
Vac1213	Pillai's Trace	.151	.505b	6.000	17.000	.796	.151
	Wilk's Lambda	.849	.505b	6.000	17.000	.796	.151
	Hotelling's Trace	.178	.505b	6.000	17.000	.796	.151
	Roy's Largest Root	.178	.505b	6.000	17.000	.796	.151
Vac1011*	Pillai's						
Vac1213	Trace						
	Wilk's						
	Lambda						
	Hotelling's						
	Trace						
	Roy's						
	Largest						
	Root						

Immunization vs. Academic Performance – Mixed MANOVA

		Type III					Partial
		sum of		Mean			ETA
Source		squares	Df	square	F	Sig.	squared
Vac1011	Final1011	174.262	1	174.262	1.541	.228	.065
	Final1112	217.010	1	217.010	1.809	.192	.076
	Final1213	244.655	1	244.655	2.630	.119	.107
	NJASK1011	866.056	1	866.056	1.114	.303	.048
	NJASK1112	1082.473	1	1082.473	1.453	.241	.062
	NJASK1213	1098.056	1	1098.056	1.502	.233	.064
Vac1213	Final1011	100.101	1	100.101	.885	.357	.039
	Final1112	326.700	1	326.700	2.724	.113	.110
	Final1213	28.519	1	28.519	.307	.585	.014
	NJASK1011	1080.000	1	1080.000	1.389	.251	.059
	NJASK1112	946.408	1	946.408	1.270	.272	.055
	NJASK1213	1695.008	1	1695.008	2.318	.142	.095
Vac1011	Final1011						,
Vac1213	Final1112	•					
	Final1213						
	NJASK1011						
	NJASK1112						
	NJASK1213						

Mental Health vs. Academic Performance – Wilk's Lambda

		X7 1		Dí	F 16	c .	Partial ETA
Effect	D'11 ')	Value	<u>F</u>	Df	Error df	<u>Sig.</u>	squared
MHC1011	Pillai's Trace	.195	.727b	6.000	18.000	.634	.195
	Wilk's Lambda	.805	.727b	6.000	18.000	.634	.195
	Hotelling's Trace	.242	.727b	6.000	18.000	.634	.195
	Roy's Largest Root	.242	.727b	6.000	18.000	.634	.195
MHC1213	Pillai's Trace	0.000	.b	6.000	0.000		
	Wilk's Lambda	1.000	.b	6.000	20.500		
	Hotelling's Trace	0.000	.b	6.000	2.000		
	Roy's Largest Root	0.000	.000b	6.000	17.000		0.000
MHC1011*	Pillai's						
MHC1213	Trace						
	Wilk's						
	Lambda						
	Hotelling's						
	Trace						
	Roy's						
	Largest Root						

		Type III					Partial
		sum of		Mean			ETA
Source		squares	Df	square	F	Sig.	squared
MHC1011	Final1011	88.266	1	88.266	.788	.384	.033
	Final1112	16.801	1	16.801	.131	.721	.006
	Final1213	5.670	1	5.670	.055	.817	.002
	NJASK1011	154.856	1	154.856	.197	.661	.008
	NJASK1112	417.608	1	417.608	.560	.462	.024
	NJASK1213	1133.063	1	1133.063	1.564	.224	.064
MHC1213	Final1011						
	Final1112	•					
	Final1213						
	NJASK1011						
	NJASK1112						
	NJASK1213						
MHC1011	Final1011						
MHC1213	Final1112						
	Final1213						
	NJASK1011						
	NJASK1112						
	NJASK1213						

Mental Health vs. Academic Performance – Mixed MANOVA

Summary

In this chapter, the researcher presented the research findings and data analyses within the framework of the research questions posed in this study. The researcher used the Spearman's Rho correlation analysis to answer Research Questions 1 and 2, and performed mixed MANOVA tests to analyze Research Questions 3 and 4. The results of all analyses resulted in the support of the null hypotheses; that is, there were no significant relationships observed.

In Chapter 5, the researcher will present the summary and discussion of results and insights gained from the results of the statistical tests performed in Chapter 4. The researcher will discuss the findings in the context of existing literature. In addition, the researcher will present the limitations of the current study, including data limitations. Finally, the researcher will discuss the implications for school nursing practice drawn from the results of this study, as well as the recommendations for further research.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION

Introduction and Summary

Students should have onsite access to clinic healthcare, as it is a powerful tool to maintain and assess the health status of students; however, doing so remains a challenge for schools due to lack of funding (Franklin et al., 2006). Lack of funding hinders students' access to healthcare in school. Students seeking medical care outside of school compromise their academic performance. When students become ill, they must miss classes or school days to be treated outside of the school (Franklin et al., 2006). The lack of access to onsite school-based health clinics (SBHC) possibly affects the students' academic achievement. The purpose of this study was to determine if there is a significant difference in academic performance among urban elementary school students using SBHC and those that do not use SBHCs. Several studies have shown a link between school-related health services and academic services; however, there is no study available that details the direct relationship between these school-related health services on the academic performance of students.

The research questions and hypotheses that guided the study are as follows:

RQ1: Is there a relationship between SBHC use, SBHC non-use, and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

Ho1: There is no relationship between SBHC use, SBHC non-use, and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5.

H_A**1:** There is a relationship between SBHC use, SBHC non-use, and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across

grades 3, 4, and 5.

RQ1A: Is there a relationship between SBHC use and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

HolA: There is no relationship between SBHC use and academic performance.

H_A1A: There is a relationship between SBHC use and academic performance.

RQ1B: Is there a relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

H₀1B: There is no relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance.

H_A1B: There is a relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance.

RQ2: Is there a relationship between primary services offered by SBHCs (physicals,

immunizations, and mental health) and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5?

H₀**2:** There is no relationship between primary services offered by SBHCS (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5.

H_A**2:** There is a relationship between primary services offered by SBHCS (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grades 3, 4, and 5.

RQ2A: Is there a relationship between the primary service "Physicals" offered by SBHCs and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grade 3, 4, and 5?

H₀**2A:** There is no relationship between the primary service "Physicals" and academic performance.

H_A**2A**: There is a relationship between the primary service "Physicals" and academic performance.

RQ2B: Is there a relationship between the primary service "Immunizations" offered by SBHCs and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grade 3, 4, and 5?

H₀**2B:** There is no relationship between the primary service "Immunizations" and academic performance.

H_A**2B:** There is a relationship between the primary service "Immunizations" and academic performance.

RQ2C: Is there a relationship between the primary service "Mental Health" offered by SBHC and academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJ ASK scores, and LAL scores) across grade 3, 4, and 5?

H₀**2C:** There is no relationship between the primary service "Mental Health" and academic performance.

H_A**2C:** There is a relationship between the primary service "Mental Health" and academic performance.

RQ3: Is there a difference in academic performance (as measured by final grades,

NJASK scores, and LAL scores) between SBHC Users and SBHC Non-users, across grades 3, 4, and 5?

H₀**3:** There is no difference in academic performance between SBHC users and SBHC non-users across grades 3,4, and 5.

H_A**3:** There is a difference in academic performance between SBHC users and SBHC non-users across grades 3,4, and 5.

RQ4: Is there a difference in academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJASK scores, and LAL scores) between primary SBHC services used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and primary SBHC services not used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health), across grades 3, 4, and 5?

Ho4: There is no difference in academic performance between primary SBHC services used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and primary SBHC services not used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health), across grades 3, 4, and 5?

H_{A4}: There is a difference in academic performance between primary SBHC services used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and primary SBHC services not used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health), across grades 3, 4, and 5?

Interpretation of the Findings

RQ1. There is a relationship between SBHC use and non-use and academic performance.

The researcher tested the main hypothesis of Research Question 1 through a Spearman's Rho correlation analysis. There was not enough evidence to reject the null hypotheses of either RQ1A or RQ1B; neither the use nor disuse of SBHC affects students' academic outcomes. The researcher accepted the null hypothesis.

This finding disconfirms the findings of previous researchers who concluded that the use of SBHC has an impact to the academic outcomes of students. Thompson et al. (2006) contended that SBHCs and academic performance have a direct and positive relationship. Thompson et al. stated that students who regularly use either school-based or school-linked health clinics for their healthcare services have good grades. These students also feel a connection with their healthcare providers since they established a relationship and became their confidants. Thus, these students had greater academic success in terms of staying in school, promotion, and graduation. McCord et al. (1993) also suggested that as a direct result of having access to the SBHC, one school system in New York City improved student attendance, promotion, and graduation rates and reduced the rates of suspension and withdrawal from school. Keshishian (2009) also stated that educators instinctively understand that healthy students have great academic advantages: they are in class more often, and are better able to learn and focus during classroom instructional time. Moreover, with readily available healthcare, students come to school strong, healthy, and ready to learn. Jackson (2009) stated that students struggling with a health condition are apt to miss more days of school than their peers. Jackson assessed variation in the link between health and educational attainment by race/ethnicity and socio-economic status. Jackson concluded that adolescents tend to have good health, especially with available school health clinics, and are more likely to graduate from high school in a timely manner and less likely to attend college. The findings also reflected that adverse educational consequences of poor health are not limited to one subgroup of the population, but span the socio-economic spectrum when defined by ethnicity and race.

Previous researchers have also examined the influence of SBHC on student attendance. One way that SBHCs reduce student dropout rate or increase student academic achievement overall is from its impact on student attendance. Kearney (2007) showed that school attendance is directly related to academic achievement and inversely related to school dropout rates. Foy and Hahn (2009) examined the influence of an onsite, community school-based health center by Vallejo City Unified School District over a 4-year operation. Foy and Hahn found that the establishment of the center was correlated to reduced absences and reduced hospitalization that improved the academic performance of the students. Weismuller et al. (2007) stated that the (2003) supported this argument by showing that the presence of school nurses who work full-time may decrease the number of children who drop out of school for medical reasons.Geierstanger et al. (2004) also concluded there is a strong correlation between student attendance (including absenteeism and tardiness) and SBHCs.

Geierstanger et al. (2004) found a correlation between students' absenteeism, academic achievement, and self-esteem. Self-esteem has a significant impact to academic performance and the overall adjustment of a person in his or her teenage years (Berndt, 2002; Pulkkinen et al., 2002; Wigfield et al., 2002). Due to low self-esteem, students could experience depression that leads to adolescents' maladaptive achievement strategies such as delinquency, suicidal tendencies, victimization, and low happiness levels (Baumeister et al., 2003; Palmer, 2004; Pelkonen, 2003; Wild et al., 2004). Delgash-Pelish (2006) asserted that having a SBHC involved in the school community is one factor that could help break such a maladaptive achievement cycle.

School connectedness is also an important factor in academic performance. McCord et al. (1993) found the SBHCs increased school attendance as well as reduced dropout rates. Moreover, the researchers also found that connectedness fostered by SBHCs actually led to improved academic performance. Geierstanger et al. (2004) concluded that increased sense of connectedness to their communities demonstrate a higher rate of helping students achieve academic success.

RQ2. Is there a significant relationship between use of specific SBHC services (physicals, immunizations, and mental health counseling) student's academic outcomes?

The Spearman's Rho tests also demonstrated that SBHC use, including SBHC as a whole and specific SBHC uses (physicals, immunizations, and mental health counselling) were not statistically significantly related to the students' academic outcomes. The researcher rejected this hypothesis.

This finding extends the knowledge in the discipline. No study has been found that explored the relationship of specific SBHC services (physicals, immunizations, and mental health counseling) and student's academic outcomes.

 $H_o 2A$. There is no significant relationship between availing of physicals and academic outcomes.

The first sub-hypothesis of Research Question 2 was to determine whether the use of SBHC, specifically for physicals, had a statistically significant impact on the students' academic outcomes. There was not enough evidence to reject the first null sub-hypothesis of Research Question 2, there is no significant relationship between availing of physicals and academic outcomes.

This is consistent with the main finding that there is no relationship between specific SBHC services (physicals, immunizations, and mental health counseling) and student's academic outcomes. This finding extends the knowledge in the discipline. No study has been found that directly examines the relationship between availing of physicals and academic outcomes.

 $H_0 2B$. There is no significant relationship between availing of immunizations and academic outcomes.

The second sub-hypothesis of Research Question 2 was to determine whether the use of SBHC, specifically for immunizations, had statistically significant impact on the students' academic outcomes. The results of the Spearman's correlation analysis showed that SBHC use, specifically SBHC Immunizations, has no statistically significant impact on students' academic outcome of average NJ ASK test results.

This is consistent with the main finding that there is no relationship between specific SBHC services (physicals, immunizations, and mental health counseling) and student's academic outcomes. This finding extends the knowledge in the discipline. No study has been found that directly examines the relationship between immunization use and academic outcomes.

 $H_o 2C$. There is no significant relationship between availing of mental health counseling and academic outcomes.

The third sub-hypothesis of Research Question 2 was to determine whether the use of SBHC, specifically for mental health counselling, had statistically significant impact on the students' academic outcomes. There was not enough evidence to reject the third null sub-hypothesis of Research Question 2, that there is no significant relationship between availing of mental health counselling and academic outcomes. The researcher accepted this hypothesis.

This is consistent with the main finding that there is no relationship between specific SBHC services (physicals, immunizations, and mental health counseling) and students' academic outcomes. This finding extends the knowledge in the discipline. No study has been found that directly examines the relationship between availing of mental health counselling and academic outcomes.

RQ3. Is there a difference in academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJASK scores, and LAL scores) between SBHC Users and SBHC Non-users, across grades 3, 4, and 5?

The researcher used a mixed multiple analysis of variance (MANOVA) to address Research Question 3, which investigated whether there was a statistically significant difference in the academic performance between SBHC users and SBHC non-users across grade levels. The mixed MANOVA used the combined dependent variables of final grades for grades 3, 4, and 5, and the NJ ASK scores for grades 3, 4, and 5. The results of the MANOVA indicated that there was no statistically significant difference between SBHC services and academic performance; thus, there was not enough evidence to reject the null hypothesis.

As described in the discussion for Research Question 1, this finding disconfirms the findings of previous researchers who concluded that the use of SBHC has an impact to the academic outcomes of students, such as Thompson (2006) and Keshishian (2009).

RQ4. Is there a difference in academic performance (as measured by final grades, NJASK scores, and LAL scores) between primary SBHC services used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health) and primary SBHC services not used (physicals, immunizations, and mental health), across grades 3, 4, and 5?

Research Question 4 investigated whether there was a statistically significant difference in the academic performance of users of primary SBHC services and non-users of primary SBHC services across grade levels. To address this research question, the researcher used a mixed multiple analysis of variance (MANOVA) using the combined dependent variables of final grades and NJ ASK scores for grades 3, 4, and 5. There was not enough evidence to reject the null hypothesis for Research Question 4, that there is no difference in academic performance between primary services used and those not used.

This is consistent with the main finding that there is no relationship between specific SBHC services (physicals, immunizations, and mental health counseling) and students' academic outcomes. This finding extends the knowledge in the discipline. No study has been found that directly examines the relationship between availing of mental health counselling, immunizations, and physicals) and academic outcomes.

Results Summary

In summary, there are weak negative relationships between SBHC use and academic performance, as measured by final grades and NJASK scores among the cohort of students. Likewise, there is a weak negative relationship between SBHC non-use and academic performance among the cohort of students. Thus, the researcher supported the null hypotheses for the first research questions.

The results of the next set of correlation analysis indicated that there are weak negative relationships between the usage of specific SBHC services, namely Physicals, and Mental Health Care services, and a weak positive relationship-the only positive correlation between Immunizations and the academic performance of the cohort of students for grades 3 and 5. There was incomplete data on SBHC use for the 2011-2012 school year, so no analysis was conducted using the grade 4 data. However, the results of the analysis suggest that the hypothesis for second research question was not met. Table 21 presents the results summary for Research Questions 1 and 2. The hypotheses for the third and the fourth research questions were not met because of non-significant differences in academic performance between the users and the non-users of SBHC services, whether as a general service or the usage of the specific SBHC services of Physicals, Immunizations, or Mental Health Care. The results summary for Research Questions 3 and 4 is in Table 22.

Results Summary for RQ1 and RQ2

RO	Measured	Final Grade	NJASK	Results
1A	SBHC Users	X	X	Hypothesis not met
1B	SBHC Non- Users	X	X	Hypothesis not met
2A1	Physicals (3rd grade)	X	X	Hypothesis not met
2A2	Physicals (4th grade)			Hypothesis met
2A3	Physicals (5th grade)	X	Х	Hypothesis not met
2B1	Immunizations	X	Х	Hypothesis not
	(3rd grade)			met
2B2	Immunizations			Hypothesis met
2B3	Immunizations (5th grade)	Х	X	Hypothesis not met
2C1	Mental Health (3rd grade)	Х	X	Hypothesis not met
2C2	Mental Health (4th grade)			Hypothesis met
2C3	Mental Health (5th grade)			Hypothesis met

Table 22

Results Summary for RQ3 and RQ4

RQ	Measured	Final Grade	NJASK	Results
3	SBHC Use	Х	X	Hypothesis not
	SBHC Non-use	Х	Х	met
				Hypothesis not
				met
4A	Physicals	Х	X	Hypothesis not
				met
4B	Immunization	Х	X	Hypothesis not
				met
4C	Mental Health	Х	X	Hypothesis not
	Care			met

Implications of the Findings

The findings contradicted the convenience theory. The researcher hypothesized that the establishment of SBHCs would save time and provide resources (Farquhar & Rowley, 2009), which would have a significant influence on the academic performance of the students. Gladson (1990) also stated that changes in the structure of the American family have contributed to the increased need for convenience goods. Chang and Dibb (2006) asserted that more families are turning to e-shopping because it is more convenient. Similarly, students should benefit because SBHCs are more convenient to them. However, in this study, the presence of SBHCs and other services under SBCHs had no influence on student academic outcomes in this age group.

The findings contradict the conceptual framework Health and Academic Performance Theory. This theory postulated that academic performance is bolstered by good health status in students. Behrman (1996) found strong associations between child health and nutrition and educational achievement. Lehrer et al. (2006) concluded that poor physical and mental health had an adverse effect on the academic performance of their respondents, particularly the female students. Dilley (2009) also concluded that not only are health and education linked to each other, but academic success can also be vastly affected by every health risk. With the establishment of SBHCs, the students should have good health status, which would positively influence their academic performance. However, in this study, the presence of SBHCs and other services under SBCHs had no influence on student academic outcomes at the elementary school level. At the elementary school level, the SBHC conceptual framework reflects wellness promotion and healthy behavior practices. The original theoretical frame combined Convenience Theory and Health and Academic Performance Theory for SBHCs at the ES level. Whereas this initial SBHC conceptual frame works for the MS and HS it needs to reflect use at the ES level. Based on my research outcomes, at the ES level the SBHC is influenced by the convenience and health constructs. In the literature, health is synonymous to wellness promotion for the ES level with academic performance suggested for future research (Figure 10).





Figure 10. Principal Investigator's conceived modified conceptual frame. Academic achievement in this student cohort is defined differently from the MS and HS levels needing further research. Perhaps in future research ES socialization skills and school connectedness are dependent variables defining academic achievement in this student cohort. These constructs can be measured in the ability to achieve academic success through preparation skills for the NJ ASK and improved GPA through SBHC services that address this particular ES need. The researcher illustrated the discrepancy between ES, MS, and HS levels as three separate formulas (Figure 11).

HS > MS > ES (?) HS≠ES and MS≠ES ES<MS<HS

Figure 11. Formulas based on research results.

The findings of this study helped fill the gap in existing knowledge regarding the direct effects of school-related health services on the attendance and academic performance of children. While the literature clearly states there is a relationship between SBHCs and academic performance at the middle and high school levels, researchers suggest a relationship at the elementary school level. This study found no significant relationship between SBHCs and academic outcomes at the elementary school level. However, this comprehensive study provided knowledge about the effects of providing school-based healthcare for students in this age group. When we refer back to the literature and theoretical frame we see all the factors that speak to improved academic performance at the middle and high school level. By exposing elementary students to SBHC use at an early age level we level the playing field encouraging healthy behaviors and practices across all school age groups. Referring back to the literature, SBHCs enable the opportunity to address the health disparities many of these students face at such a young age. Students in the elementary age group are more impressionable and easier to reach than older students where problems tend to be more complex because they experiment more with unhealthy practices and risky behaviors

The findings of this study help provide support for efforts to provide school-based healthcare, especially for those students residing in undeserved, underprivileged communities who lack access to healthcare. The literature states the school population is adolescent where there is a stronger positive relationship between SBHC and Academic Performance. This is the middle and high school level. This data shows the beginning stages of students being exposed to health care access through SBHCs. As a school nurse practitioner in this age group, the researcher can see the benefit of early exposure to healthy habits. While there may never be an issue at the elementary school level or strong positive relationship as suggested in the data, you don't necessarily eschew the youngest most fragile members of society. Good health habits established early keeps them in school so that as the behaviors get risky they can be handled appropriately then. Early exposure to SBHCs establishes a firm foundation for improved academic performance to Even though the findings of the study contradict the previous findings about the relationship of providing healthcare programs for students and improved school attendance and academic performance, the findings of this study encourage further research assessing SBHC use at the elementary school level ensuring the services offered are age appropriate to meet their needs.

Limitations of the Study

Limitations to this study are those which the researcher is unable to control for. A limitation to this study was the fact that the researcher was unable to control for the subjects participating in the study; the sample came from a small cohort that the researcher obtained through a convenience sample. The participants consisted of students from a school where the administrator was willing to consent to use their school databases for the study. The second limitation to the study was that the data of the sample set were retrospective, and were already a part of the students' cumulative school record. The third limitation was the methodological design of the study. The quantitative nature of the study might have limited the results of the study, in that the researcher was unable to ask more questions or probe the results.

Recommendations for Future Research

Based the research study findings, at the ES level you have the SBHC being influenced

by the convenience and health constructs. In the literature, health is synonymous to wellness promotion for the ES level with academic performance suggested for future research. The first recommendation is to replicate the study using a larger urban elementary school sample. The second recommendation is to replicate the study in other urban school districts, in-state. With the telehealth concept being introduced in more rural and underserved demographic regions, school based health care and student academic performance can be more closely assessed for effectiveness in addressing students' medical needs, and improving healthcare access. The third recommendation is to conduct a comparative study involving affluent and under-served school districts. The fourth recommendation is to conduct a qualitative case study about the impact of SBHC to the academic outcomes of students. The fifth recommendation is to make provisions for IRB collaboration and uniformity that are user-friendly for conducting research in school districts.

Lessons Learned

This retrospective study is the first of its kind in this Health and Medical Sciences program. There were delays involved in obtaining this retrospective data—the researcher experienced a delay of over 2 years when dealing with the New Jersey Board of Education with no control over the politics of the process. However, the results were worth it – the longitudinal data was more helpful than a snapshot of a current group would have been. The results of the analysis were also contrary to the researcher's expectations. The researcher expected that having a SBHC on site would improve students' academic performance, but observed the opposite outcome—that SBHC use and non-use did not influence academic performance at the ES level. Lastly, as a school nurse in the elementary school, the researcher had the unique opportunity to move from clinical experience as a practitioner to seeing the study evolve as a scholarly piece of interesting research.

Summary and Conclusions

The purpose of this quantitative research was to determine whether the use of onsite SBHC in public schools would impact academic performance of students. Based from the convenience and the health and academic performance theories, it was expected that SBHC would have a positive influence on the academic performance of students because it is convenient and maintains the good health status of the students. Previous studies have also asserted that SBHCs and academic performance have a direct and positive relationship (Jackson, 2009; Keshishian, 2009; McCord et al., 1993; Thompson et al., 2006). As such, the researcher expected that there is a relationship between SBHCs and academic performance. However, according to the statistical analyses performed, SBHC use, non-use, and all services were not positively related to academic achievement. The researcher rejected none of the null hypotheses, and found no relationship between the variables under study and academic achievement, in both final grades and standardized tests. This dissertation does acknowledge the importance of school health, and the implications for healthy behavior practices in school aged children. This dissertation suggests further research on school based health clinic use at the elementary school level focusing on other aspects defining academic performance.

References

- Acosta, O.M., Weist, M.D., Lopez, F.A., Shafer, M.E. & Josefina, L.P. (2004). Assessing the psychological and academic needs of Latino youth to inform the development of schoolbased programs. *Behavior Modification*, 28, 579-595. doi:10.1177/0145445503259499
- Allen, G. (2003). The impact of elementary school nurses on student attendance. *The Journal of School Nursing*, *19*(4), 225-231.
- Anderson, L.M., Wood, D.L. & Sherbourne, C.D. (1997). Maternal acculturation and childhood immunization levels among children in Latino families in Los Angeles. *American Journal of Public Health*, 87(12), 2018–2021.
- Aunola, K., Stattin, H., & Nurmi, J.E. (2000). Adolescents' achievement strategies, school adjustment, and externalizing and internalizing problem behaviors, *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, 289–306.
- Barclay, J.R., & Doll, B. (2001). Early prospective studies of high school dropout. *School Psychology Quarterly*, *16*, 357–369.
- Battistic, V., & Hom, A. (1997) The relationship between student's sense of their school as a community and their involvement in problem behaviors. *American Journal of Public Health*, 87(12), 1997- 2001.
- Baumeister, R.F., Campbell, J.D., Krueger, J.I., & Vohs, K.D. (2003). Does high self-esteem cause better performance, interpersonal success, happiness, or healthier lifestyles?
 Psychological Science in the Public Interest, 4, 1–44.
- Behrman, J.R. (1996). The impact of health and nutrition on education. *World Bank Research Observer, 11,* 23-37.
- Berkanovic, E. & Telesky, C. (1985). Mexican-American, black-American, and white-American differences in reporting illness, disability, and physician visits for illness. *Social Science Med*, 20, 567–577.
- Berndt, T.J. (2002). Friendship quality and social development. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *11*, 7–10.
- Blum, R.W., & Libbey, H.P. (2004). School connectedness: Strengthening health and education outcomes for teenagers. *Journal of School Health*, 74, 231–232.
- Bond, L., Carlin, J.B., & Thomas, L. (2001). Does bullying cause emotional problems? A prospective study of young teenagers. *British Medical Journal*, *323*, 480–484.
- Bond, L., Patton, G.C., & Glover, S. (2004). The Gatehouse Project: Can a multi-level school intervention affect emotional well-being and health risk behaviors? *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 58, 997–1003.
- Bowlby, J. (1980) Attachment and loss: Sadness and depression. London, England: Hogarth Press.
- Brach C., & Fraser I. (2000). Can cultural competency reduce racial and ethnic disparities? A review and conceptual model. *Medical Care Research and Review*, *57*, 181–217.
- Brindis, C. D., Klein, J., Schlitt, J., Sanelli, J., Juszczak, L., & Nystrom, R. (2003). School-based health centers: Accessibility and accountability. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 32, 98-107.
- Burnam, A.M., Hough, R.L., Karno, M., Escobar, J.I. & Telles, C.A. (1987). Acculturation and lifetime prevalence of psychiatric disorders among Mexican Americans in Los Angeles. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 28, 89–101.

California Education Supports Project. (2009). The critical connection between student health and academic achievement: How schools and policymakers can achieve a positive impact. Retrieved from

cms.ipressroom.com.s3.amazonaws.com/.../WhitePaper_10_23_09_v9.pdf

- Catalano, R.F., & Hawkins, J.D. (1996). The social development model: A theory of antisocial behavior. In J.D. Hawkins (Ed.), *Delinquency and crime: Current theories*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Catalano, R.F., Kosterman, R., & Hawkins, J.D. (1996). Modeling the etiology of adolescent substance use: A test of the social development model. *Journal of Drug Issues*, 26, 429–455.
- Catalano, R.F., Haggerty, K.P., & Oesterle, S. (2004). The importance of bonding to school for healthy development: Findings from the Social Development Research Group. *Journal of School Health*, 74, 252–261.
- The Center for Health and Healthcare in Schools. (2007). *The Center for Health and Healthcare in Schools*. Retrieved from http://www.healthinschools.org
- Chang, C.C., & Dibb, S. (2007). Enhancing company performance and customer service through e-service convenience. In M. Hitz, M. Sigala and J. Murphy (Eds.), *Information and communications technologies in tourism* (pp. 346-356). New York, NY: Springer.
- Chase, E., Goodrich, R., Simon, A., Holtermann, S., Aggleton, P. (2006). Evaluating schoolbased health services to inform future practice: Lessons from "Teen Talk" at Kidbrooke School in Greenwich. *Health Education*, 106(1), 42-59.
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2000) *Research methods in education*. London, England: Routledge Falmer.

- Cooper, D. R., & Schindler, P. (2003). *Business research methods*. New York, NY: McGraw Hill.
- Collins, K.S., Hughes, D.L., Doty, M.M., Ives, B.L., Edwards, J.N. & Tenney, K. (2002). Diverse communities, common concerns: Assessing health care quality for minority Americans. New York, NY: The Commonwealth Fund.

Cozby, P.C. (2007). Methods in behavioral research. New York, NY: McGraw Hill.

- Creswell, J.W. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Delgash-Pelish, P. (2006). Effects of self-esteem intervention program on school age children. *Pediatric Nursing, 4,* 341-348.
- Dilley, J. (2009). Research review: School-based health interventions and academic achievement. Retrieved from http://www.sboh.wa.gov/Pubs/docs/Health&AA.pdf
- Doll, B. & Hess, R.S. (2001). Through a new lens: Contemporary psychological perspectives on school completion and dropping out of high school, *School Psychology Quarterly*, 16, 351–356.
- Dowling, M. (2009), *Young children's personal, social, and emotional development*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Dwyer, P., & Wyn, J. (2001), Youth, education, and risk: Facing the future. London, England: Routledge.
- Elias, M. J. (2006). The connection between academic and social and emotional learning. In M.J. Elias and H. Arnold (Eds.), *The educator's guide to emotional intelligence and academic achievement*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

Elitzak, H. (1999). Desire for convenience drives marketing costs. Retrieved from

http://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/foodreview/sep1999/frsept99d.pdf

- Farquhar, J.D., & Rowley, J. (2009). Convenience: A services perspective. *Marketing Theory*, 9, 425-438.
- Fothergill, K. (1997). The school-linked health center: A promising model of community-based care for adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 23, 23-29
- Foy, J. E., & Hahn, K. (2009). School-based health centers: A four year experience, with a focus on reducing student exclusion rates. *Osteopathic Medicine and Primary Care, 3*, 3. doi:10.1186/1750-4732-3-3
- Franklin, C., Harris, M.B., & Allen-Meares, P. (2006). The school services sourcebook: A guide for school-based professionals. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Gall, G., Pagano, M. E., Desmond, M. S., Perrin, J. M., & Murphy, J. M. (2000). Utility of psychosocial screening at a school-based health center. *Journal of School Health*, 70(7), 292–298.
- Gazmararian, J.A., Baker, D.W., & Williams, M.V. (1999). Health literacy among Medicare enrollees in a managed care organization. *JAMA*, *281*, 545–551.
- Geierstanger, S.P., Amaral, G., Mansour, M., & Walters, S.R. (2004). School-based health centers and academic performance: Research, challenges, and recommendations. *Journal* of School Health, 74(9), 347-352.
- Geiger, J.H. (2001). Racial stereotyping and medicine: the need for cultural competence. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 164*, 1699–1700.
- Gladson, T. (1990). *Convenience has key role in marketing mix*. Retrieved from http://findarticles.com/p/articles/mi_m3374/is_n15_v12/ai_9376607/
- Glover, S., Burns, J., & Butler, H. (1998). Social environments and the emotional wellbeing of young people. *Family Matters*, 49, 11–16.

- Hansford, B.C., & Hattie, J.A (1982). The relationship between self and achievement/performance measures. *Review of Educational Research*, *52*, 123–142.
- Hanson, T.L., & Austin, G.A. (2002). *Health risks, resilience, and the Academic Performance Index.* Los Alamitos, CA: WestEd.
- Hawkins, J.D., & Weis, J.G. (1985). The social development model: An integrated approach to delinquency prevention. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, *6*, 73-97.
- Hayes-Bautista, D.E. (1978). Chicano patients and medical practitioners. *Social Science Medical*, *12*, 83–90.
- Health Care Reform: School-Based Health Centers Can Promote Access to Care. (1991).Washington, DC: General Accounting Office, Health Education, and Human Services Division.
- Hulley, S.B. (2007). *Designing clinical research*. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, Williams, & Wilkins.
- Jackson, M. I. (2009). Understanding links between adolescent health and educational attainment. *Demography*, *46*(4), 1-24.
- Kalet, A.L., Juszczak, L., Pastore, D., Fierman, A.H., Soren, K., Cohall, A....& Volel, C. (2007).
 Medical training in school-based health centers: A collaboration among five medical schools. *Academic Medicine*, 82(5), 458-64.
- Kearney, C. A. (2007). School absenteeism and school refusal behavior in youth: A contemporary review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 28, 451–471.
- Kelley, E. (1958). The importance of convenience in consumer purchasing. *The Journal of Marketing*, 23(1), 32-38.

Keshishian, B. (2009). Health insurance reform is an education issue. Asbury Park Press, B8.

- Kirby, D., Short, L., & Collins, J. (1994). School-based programs to reduce sexual risk behaviors: A review of effectiveness. *Public Health Report*, 109, 339-60.
- Lehrer, S., Ding, W., & Rosenquist, J. (2006). The impact of health on academic performance: New evidence using genetic markers. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Economics of Population Health: Inaugural Conference of the American Society of Health Economists, Madison, WI, USA.
- Leininger, M. (1997). *Leininger's theory of nursing: Cultural care diversity and universality*. Retrieved from Oulu University Library.
- Leininger, M. (2002). Culture care theory: a major contribution to advance transcultural nursing knowledge and practices. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, *13*, 189-192.
- Libbey, H.P. (2004). Measuring student relationships to school: Attachment, bonding, connectedness, and engagement. *Journal of School Health*, 74, 274–282.
- Licata, J.W., & Harper, G.W. (1999). Healthy schools, robust schools, and academic emphasis as an organizational theme. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *37*(5), 463–475.
- Luthar, S.S. & Cicchetti, D. (2000). The construct of resilience: implications for interventions and social policies. *Development & Psychopathology*, *12*, 857–885.
- Marcus, R.F., & Sanders-Reio, J. (2001). The influence of attachment on school completion. School Psychology Quarterly, 16, 427–444.
- McCord, M.T., Klein, J., Foy, J.M., & Fothergill, K. (1993). School-based clinic use and school performance. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *14*, 91-98.
- Mirowsky, J., Ross, C.E., & Reynolds, J.R. (2000). Links between social status and health status.
 In C.E. Bird, P. Conrad and A.M. Fremont (Eds.), *The handbook of medical sociology* (5th ed.; pp.47-67). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- National Assembly of School-Based Healthcare. (2009). SBHCs in Healthcare Reform. September Policy Update. Washington D.C.
- National Research Council and Institute of Medicine. (2002). *Community programs to promote youth development*. Washington, D.C: National Academy Press.
- National Research Council and Institute of Medicine. (2004). *Engaging schools*. Washington, D.C: National Academic Press.
- Nelson, M., & Quinney, D. (1997). Evaluating a school-based health clinic. *Health Visitor*, 70, 419–421.
- Neuman, W. L., & Neuman, W. L. (2003). *Workbook for social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches*. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Nutbeam, D., Smith, C., & Moore, L. (1993). Warning! Schools can damage your health: Alienation from school and its impact on health behavior. *Journal of Pediatric Child Health*, 29, 25–30.
- Osterman, K.F. (2000). Students' need for belonging in the school community. *Review of Educational Research*, 70, 323–367.
- Palmer, C.J. (2004). Suicide attempt history, self-esteem, and suicide risk in a sample of 116 depressed voluntary inpatients. *Psychological Reports*, 9, 1092–1094.
- Pelkonen, M. (2003). Risk for depression: A 6-year follow-up of Finnish adolescents. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 77, 41–51.
- Polit, D.F., Beck, C.T., & Hungler, B.P. (2001). *Essentials of nursing research: Methods, appraisal, and utilization* (5th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott.

- Pulkkinen, L., Nygren, H., & Kokko, K. (2002). Successful development: Childhood antecedents of adaptive psychosocial functioning in adulthood, *Journal of Adult Development*, 9, 251–265.
- Ralph, A., & Mineka, S. (1998). Attributional style and self-esteem: The prediction of emotional distress following a midterm exam. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 107, 203–215.
- Resnick, M.D. (2000). Protective factors, resiliency, and healthy youth development. *Adolescent Medicine*, *11*, 157–164.
- Resnick, M.D., Bearman, P.S. & Blum, R.W. (1997). Protecting adolescents from harm:
 Findings from the National Longitudinal Study on Adolescent Health. *JAMA*, 278, 823–832.
- Resnick, M.D., Harris, L.J., & Blum, R.W. (1993). The impact of caring and connectedness on adolescent health and well-being. *Journal of Pediatric Child Health 29, 3-9*.
- Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. (n.d.). New survey shows language barriers causing many Spanish-speaking Latinos to skip care. Retrieved from www.rwjf.org/newsEvents/media.jsp
- Rosenfeld, L. B., Richman, J. M., & Bowen, G. L. (2000). Social support networks and school outcomes:
 The centrality of the teacher. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, *17*, 205-226. Rungo, P. (2008). The impact of child health status on learning ability and school entrance age. *Economics Bulletin*, *9*(27), 1-9.
- Samdal, O., Nutbeam, D., & Wold, B. (1998). Achieving health and educational goals through schools: A study of the importance of school climate and the students' satisfaction with school. *Health Education Research*, 13, 383–397.

Schmidley, A.D. (2001). Profile of the foreign-born population in the United States: 2000. U.S.

Census Bureau, Current Population Reports. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Singh, K. (2007). Quantitative social research methods. Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications.

- Smedley, B.D., Stith, A.Y., & Nelson, A.R. (2002). *Unequal treatment: Confronting racial and ethnic disparities in healthcare*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Smith, S., & Gonzales, V. (2000). All health plans need culturally and linguistically appropriate materials. *Healthplan*, 41, 5, 45-48.
- Steinschneider, J. (1998). Potential sources of federal support for school-based and schoollinked health services. Retrieved from http://www.inde.gov.mz/docs/advocacy9.pdf
- Suchman, E.A. (1965). Social patterns of illness and medical care. *Journal of Health and Human Behavior*, 6, 2–16.
- Strunk, J, (2008). The effect of school-based health clinics on teenage pregnancy and parenting outcomes: An integrated literature review. *The Journal of School Nursing*, 24(1), 13-20.
- Tabachnick, B.G., & Fidell, L.S. (2007). *Using multivariate statistics*. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Thistle, S. (2003). Secondary schools and sexual health services: Forging the links. *Office of Minority Health.* Retrieved from www.omhrc.gov/clas/
- Thompson, D.R., Lachan, R., Overpeck, M., Ross J.G., & Gross, L.A. (2006). School connectedness in the health behavior in school-aged children study: The role of student, school, and school neighborhood characteristics. *Journal of School Health*, 76(7), 379-386.
- Urdan, T. C. (2005). *Statistics in plain English* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

- Vogt, W. P. (2007). *Quantitative research methods for professionals*. Boston, MA: Pearson/Allyn and Bacon.
- Walker, S. C., Kerns, S.E.U., Lyon, A.R., Bruns, E.J., & Cosgrove, T.J. (2009). Impact of school-based health center use on academic outcomes. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 46(3), 1-7.
- Waszak, C.S., Peak, G.L., Hyche-Williams, J., & Neidell, S. (1991). *Characteristics of school-based and school-linked clinics with and without on-site contraceptive availability* (Unpublished manuscript) Annual Meeting of the American Public Health Association, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Weinick, R.M. & N.A. Krauss (2000). Racial and ethnic differences in children's access to care. *American Journal on Public Health*, 90, 1771–1774.
- Weismuller, P.C., Grasska, M.A., Alexander, M., White, C.G. & Kramer, P. (2007). Elementary school nurse interventions: Attendance and social health outcomes. *The Journal of School Nursing*, 23(2), 111-118.
- Wigfield, A., Battle, A., Keller, L.B. & Eccles, J.S. (2002). Sex differences in motivation, self-concept, career aspiration, and career choice: Implications for cognitive development. In McGillicuddy-De Lisi, A., De Lisi, R. (Eds). *Biology, society, and behavior: The development of sex differences in cognition*. Westport, CT: Ablex.
- Wild, L.G., Flisher, A. J, & Lombard, C. (2004). Suicidal ideation and attempts in adolescents:
 Associations with depression and six domains of self-esteem. *Journal of Adolescence*, 27, 611–624.
- Willms, J.D. (2003). Student engagement at school: A sense of belonging and participation.Paris, France: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development.

- Woloshin, S., Bickell, N., Shwartz, L., Gany, F. , & Welch, G. (1995). Language barriers in medicine in the United States. *JAMA*, *273*, *9*, 724-728.
- Xueqin, G. and Henderson, G. (1999). *Rethinking ethnicity and health care: A sociocultural perspective*. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas Publisher.

Yin, R.K. (2003). Case study research design and methods (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Appendix A

IRB Approval Letter

SETON HALL

May 6, 2015

Cynthia Samuel

Dear Ms. Samuel,

The Seton Hall University Institutional Review Board has reviewed the information you have submitted addressing its concern of lacking performance site approval from the Newark NJ Public Schools for your proposal entitled "Exploring Relationships Between School Based Health Clinics and Academic Performance in Elementary School-Aged Children: Dissertation." Your research protocol is now reactivated. It is accepted as revised and is categorized as exempt.

Please note that, where applicable, subjects must sign and must be given a copy of the Seton Hall University current stamped Letter of Solicitation or Consent Form before the subjects' participation. All data, as well as the investigator's copies of the signed Consent Forms, must be retained by the principal investigator for a period of at least three years following the termination of the project.

Should you wish to make changes to the IRB approved procedures, the following materials must be submitted for IRB review and be approved by the IRB prior to being instituted:

- Description of proposed revisions;
- If applicable, any new or revised materials, such as recruitment fliers, letters to subjects, or consent documents; and
- If applicable, updated letters of approval from cooperating institutions and IRBs.

At the present time, there is no need for further action on your part with the IRB.

In harmony with federal regulations, none of the investigators or research staff involved in the study took part in the final decision.

Sincerely,

Mary J. Ringche, Ph. D.

Mary F. Ruzicka, Ph.D. Professor Director, Institutional Review Board

Office of Institutional Review Board

Presidents Hall • 400 South Orange Avenue • South Orange, New Jersey 07079 • Tel: 973.313.6314 • Fax: 973.275.2361 • www.shu.edu

A HOME FOR THE MIND, THE HEART AND THE SPIRIT

Appendix B

Newark Public Schools Research and Data-Sharing Agreement

NEWARK PUBLIC SCHOOLS

Research and Data-Sharing Agreement

REQUIRED FOR DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION PERTAINING TO INDIVIDUAL STUDENTS TO BONA FIDE RESEARCHERS AND ORGANIZATIONS CONDUCTING RESEARCH PROJECTS AND STUDIES

Organization Conducting Project/Study _

Principal Researcher

 Cynthia E. Samuel, Ph. D. Student

 Interprofessional Health Sciences and Health

 Administration Department

 School of Health & Medical Sciences

 Seton Hall University, South Orange, NJ 07079

Deborah A. DeLuca, MS, JD

Faculty Advisor/Supervisor (if Principal Researcher is a student)

Name of Project/Study: <u>Exploring Relationships Between School Based Health Clinics and</u> Academic Performance in Elementary School-Aged Children: DISSERTATION

Educational Records requested and/or On-site Research Planned (be specific):

Please know that as part of the Seton Hall University Institutional Review Board Policies and Procedures, in accordance with 45 CFR 46 *et seq*, the approved SHU IRB application is provided to NBOE as a matter of course and will be provided as soon as the letter of approval is received. However, in anticipation and contemplation of this approval being provided to NBOE, the answers to your questions below are excerpted from that application as indicated. Thank you.

The Educational Records Requested question is answered previously in the approved and exempted study by Seton Hall University IRB and the NBOE which was placed on file with the NBOE (February 2013, May 2013) in Question #15. This question is reproduced in its entirety here:

15. "From where and how will potential subjects be identified (e.g., outpatient list, class list, etc.)?"

Potential subjects will be identified from class lists and school district databases both electronically and manually, which will be provided to the Principal Investigator by the Newark Public School District, previously coded, so that no particular identification can be associated with any individual student.

Student privacy and identification is protected by a numerical and/or letter code issued to each student upon school enrollment and upon SBHC enrollment if medical services are utilized. The identifiers also identify the students' grade. All necessary data can be accessed by computer through these identifiers so no other student information is compromised. Electronic icons not only blind private student information, but also categorize and interpret

the data as per the dissertation study research questions. <u>There is neither student contact</u> nor contact with personal and/or private information. This is <u>retrospective data</u>, <u>publicly</u> <u>available</u> that has been previously accumulated, coded and aggregated, and electronically entered into the Newark Public School database.

Additionally – the SHU IRB requires the answer to the following question about the subjects and privacy/confidentiality:

"Describe the subjects, removing geographic identifiers that could compromise anonymity or confidentiality:" – *the answer from my approved IRB is again provided for herein as follows:*

This dissertation consists of a convenience sample of retrospective, historic data independently collected and aggregated in a blinded format and provided to the PI, about students who are currently enrolled in Quitman Street Community School located in the Newark Public School district (NPS), Newark, New Jersey. Quitman Street Community School has an onsite SBHC and includes students from pre-kindergarten through Grade 5. I have conducted my Pilot Study (approved and exempted study by both the SHU IRB and NBOE) on the students in grade 3 during the 2010-2011 school year (N=48). A school year is from September to June totaling a ten (10) month period. These same students will be followed to grade 4 during the 2011-2012 school year, and to grade 5 during the 2012-2013 school year for a total of three (3) consecutive school years.

<u>Age(s) of subjects</u>: 3rd Grade students, male and female, aged 8-9 years old, whose parent/guardian has either approved the use of the SBHC (coded as "SBHC-n") for their child(ren) or who has disapproved the use of the SBHC (coded as "NSBHC-n") for their child(ren). These same students aged 8-9 years old in the 2010-2011 school year will be 9-10 years old in the 4th grade during the 2011-2012 school year, and 10-11 years old in the 5th grade during the 2012-2013 school year.

Number of subjects: N = 48 (*) per school year

(*) According to a preliminary G-power analysis conducted for the pilot study, a convenience sample of 34 students was revealed, however a sample of 48 students is being used for this study, which includes the entirety of the 3rd grade students on record. These same students who comprised the 3rd grade at Quitman Street School, and served as the sample set for the pilot study will be followed to grade 4 and grade 5 for the dissertation study. Therefore, the same median effect and significance level of p < 0.05, calculated for the pilot study will remain the same for the dissertation. It is anticipated that there may be a slight difference in this N from 3rd to 4th grade and 4th to 5th grade, accounting for students entering and leaving the NPS system, since Newark is a transient community. The PI is unaware of the total population in any year and has no control over the actual number of students per classroom in each grade year available in the datasets provided since that information is not made available until approval by the SHU IRB is attained and the study is retrospective.

The question regarding where and how data will be collected or on-site research being conducted is answered previously in the approved and exempted study by Seton Hall University IRB and the NBOE which was placed on file with the NBOE (February 2013, May 2013) in Question #20. This question is reproduced in its entirety here:

20. Where will research be conducted? (Be specific)

The Principal Investigator will be collecting data at the following location:

Newark Board of Education Central Office 2 Cedar Street Newark, New Jersey 07112

At the time for data collection of the Quitman Street Community School students, the Principal Investigator will go to the Newark Board of Education Central Office to gather data on the students in grades 4 and 5 as outlined in the inclusion criteria. At the risk of being repetitive, there are no subjects to recruit for this study since the study is retrospective in scope. Data for the dissertation will be provided to the Principal Investigator by the NPS in the form of consolidated reports for students who are in the third grade during the 2010-2011 school year. Data for these same third grade students will be provided as fourth graders during the 2011-2012 school year, and as fifth graders during the 2012-2013 school year totaling a three year period. These records consist of report cards, SBHC logs and outcomes of the New Jersey Assessment of Skills and Knowledge (NJ ASK) annual testing and attendance records, all previously coded and blinded to the PI. All information for this dissertation will be collected electronically and manually from the reports provided to the Principal Investigator from the Newark Public Schools BOE, and Jewish Renaissance Medical Center.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria for this dissertation study are as follows:

Inclusion Criteria:

.

.

- Data from students who entered grade 3 (2010-2011) to grade 4 (2011-2012) to grade 5 (2012-2013) at Quitman Street Community School, from 2010-2011, 2011-2012, and 2012-2013 academic years respectively, pre-blinded with electronic icons and pre-coded to protect both the privacy and the confidentiality of the student subjects.
- 2. Males and females are equivalently welcomed if they meet criteria (1) above.
- 3. Users of SBHC if they meet criteria (1) above (the "case")
- 4. Non-Users of SBHC if they meet criteria (1) above (the "control")

Exclusion Criteria:

- Data from any student attending the Quitman Street Community School, from the specified 2010-2013 academic years that is not in the aforementioned grade levels at that consecutive time frame.
- 2. Any data that does not otherwise meet the criteria strictly specified in inclusion criteria points (1) (4) above.

Information that can be utilized on site only will be utilized and returned according to any instructions and arrangements agreed upon with the Principal or Health Services Director. Any data which can be removed from the premises will be placed in a secure case and will be brought to the Principal Investigator's home office, where it will be kept in a securely locked drawer (paper) or on a password-protected memory key kept in a securely locked drawer, only to be accessed when being used for analysis.

Relevance of the requested Education Records and/or On-Site Research to the project or study:

SIGNIFICANCE of this DISSERTATION STUDY

Current literature suggests that school based health clinics are designed to become a part of the school community, lending insight and advocacy in promoting the health status of the students they serve (NASBHC, 2008; NASBHC, 2009). SBHCs employ practitioners who provide comprehensive medical care to students in all different areas of health care, including general practitioners such as physicians, nurse practitioners, registered nurses, and physician assistants, mental health specialists such as social workers, alcohol and drug counselors, and other varieties of health professionals (NASBHC, 2008). According to Academic Medicine (2007), SBHCs have tremendous untapped potential as models for learning about systems-based care of vulnerable children. SBHCs aim to provide comprehensive, community-based primary health care to primary and secondary school children who might not otherwise have ready access to that care (NASBHC, 2008).

Not every student in the United States has access to health centers at their schools, nor can easily access care within their community setting. As a result, students may be forced to miss classes or school due to illness or injury that has to be treated outside of the school setting (Franklin, Harris & Allen-Meares, 2006). If they would be treated at a medical facility outside of the school, they will likely suffer longer wait times or have to travel significant distances by public transportation which may not be convenient or which they may not be able to navigate successfully by themselves, especially if they are ill. For this reason, providing the students with clinic health care access on site has been a powerful tool in maintaining and assessing the health needs of students (Franklin, Harris & Allen-Meares, 2006). By having a health care center on site, students are able to obtain quick and efficient care for their illness or injury, resulting in less class time missed. Studies previously discussed herein already show that lack of access to onsite SBHCs seem to negatively affect students' academic achievement, although the majority of the studies were conducted at the high school level.

The literature on SBHCs is well established. However, there is a paucity of literature discussing the specific relationship between academic performance among students that utilize SBHCs and those that do not utilize SBHCs at the elementary school level. This dissertation is designed to assist in closing this particular gap in the published literature by contributing to school health and child health literature.

Also, this dissertation is novel in that it is retrospective in its design, and although this is not wholly unfamiliar in medical based research, it is less commonly used in the social sciences area of research and hence, makes this study unique and significant. A retrospective study utilizes existing data that has been recorded for purposes other than pure research (Hess, 2004). In the field of healthcare, these studies are referred to as chart reviews, because the data source is usually the medical record. Retrospective studies, which include case report, case series and case-control studies, can provide a new perspective as an important contribution to existing literature. Many criticize retrospective studies as "quick and dirty" and would not usually include them as a legitimate type of research study. These individuals tend to view these studies as hastily done, where the data are just gathered from already existing records to answer a question. However, these individuals would be incorrect and rash in their assumptions, as not all retrospective studies can be nor should be characterized as "dirty and quick" (Hess, 2004). Some retrospective studies serve useful purposes. A dissertation conducted with retrospective review of data can help to focus the study question, determine reasonable sample size, clarify hypothesis(es) and determine if there are feasibility issues for an eventual proposed prospective study (Hess, 2004).

. Therefore, not only are the four questions regarding discerning the relationship, if any, between the existence of and contribution of an SBHC to academic performance at the elementary school level novel and significant, but using a retrospective review of readily available New Jersey State data is an appropriate, novel and different approach to elucidating the beginning answers to these challenging questions, while making a significant contribution to the already existing literature on this subject. More important, this study is novel in that it is retrospective and longitudinal in its scope, in that it is involving a data analysis of the same cohort of students who entered the 3rd grade during the 2010-2011 school year through their completion of their 5th grade school year in 2012-2013.

Franklin, C., Harris, M.B., & Allen-Meares, P. (2006). The school services sourcebook: a guide for schoolbased professionals. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Hess, D. (2004). Retrospective Studies and Chart Reviews. Respiratory Case, 49(10), 1171-1174.

Kalet, A.L., Juszczak, L., Pastore, D., Fierman, A.H., Soren, K., Cohall, A. et al (2007). Medical Training in School-Based Health Centers: A Collaboration Among 5 Medical Schools. *Academic Medicine*, 82 (5), 458-464. Retrieved on May 2007 from

http://journals.lww.com/academicmedicine/fulltext/2007/05000/medical_training_in_school_based health_centers__a.6.aspx

National Assembly of School-Based Health Care (NASBHC). (2009).SBHCs in Health Care Reform. September Policy Update. Washington D.C.

The Family Education Rights and Privacy Act ("FERPA"), 20 U.S.C.§ 1232g, is a federal law that applies to all schools receiving funds under a program of the United States Department of Education. FERPA, which protects the privacy of student education records ("Education Records"), permits schools to disclose Educational Records and personally identifiable information to certain organizations conducting research projects and studies in accordance with designated guidelines.

The Principal Researcher named above ("Principal Researcher") will be provided access to and/or disclosure of Education Records of current and/or former Newark Public Schools ("NPS") students, including personally identifiable information (as that term is defined in FERPA) relating to such students, for the purposes described in the Scope of Work attached hereto and subject to the terms and conditions set forth below.

A. Specific terms and conditions of access/disclosure of Education Records, if any:

There is NO access to or disclosure of any educational records or personally identifiable information associated with this dissertation study. The reason is because this study is based on analysis of publicly available RETROSPECTIVE DATA gathered independently and compiled on a flash drive prepared for the PI by an agent of the NPS that is only available as AGGREGATE data for grades 4 and 5 from the Quitman School, Newark, NJ. There is nothing that is traceable to any individual student who is at the school in any of the classrooms associated with Grades 4 and 5. Copy of the approved, exempted study and any subsequent correspondences have all been provided previously to the NBOE by the PI.

A copy of a small portion of the data as aggregated for the PI's study is attached herein (Grade 3 from the PI's previously approved and exempted Pilot Study) in Appendix NBOE-1 so that the NBOE can see how the data is completely free of any personally identifying information and is only provided for in the AGRREGATE.

B. Confidentiality of Education Records and Conditions of Access/Disclosure.

1. The project or study will be conducted in a manner that does not permit personal identification of students or parents (through the use of names, addresses, student identification numbers, photographs, electronic images or any other personally identifiable information) by individuals other than representatives of the organization named above that have legitimate interests in the information. – *NON APPLICABLE to this study because this study is based on*

analysis of publicly available RETROSPECTIVE DATA gathered independently and compiled on a flash drive prepared for the PI by an agent of the NPS that is only available as AGGREGATE data for grades 4 and 5 from the Quitman School, Newark, NJ. There is nothing that is traceable to any individual student who is at the school in any of the classrooms associated with Grades 4 and 5.

2. Personally identifiable information will be used only to meet the purpose or purposes of the project or study as stated in the Scope of Work attached. –Yes but as stated in #1 above, Non applicable to this study because this study is based on analysis of publicly available RETROSPECTIVE DATA gathered independently and compiled on a flash drive prepared for the PI by an agent of the NPS that is only available as AGGREGATE data for grades 4 and 5 from the Quitman School, Newark, NJ. There is nothing that is traceable to any individual student who is at the school in any of the classrooms associated with Grades 4 and 5

3. Within no more than thirty (30) days of the completion of the project or study, all personally identifiable information shall be returned to the Newark Public Schools, or the Principal Researcher and/or his/her supervisor/advisor shall certify in writing that all of the personally identifiable information has been destroyed. *Since there is no personally identifying information involved in this study, this is not necessary for the PI to give to the NPS.*

4. All data relating to, arising out of or in connection with the project or study will be maintained on a secure computer network or system.

As stated in Q23 of the Seton Hall University IRB application which was approved and exempted for this study, regarding the privacy and confidentiality of all data and materials associated with this research study, I have reproduced in its entirety the response provided herein. The application originally approved by SHU IRB and NBOE was provided to NBOE and is on file. The statement referenced herein pertaining to Q23 is:

23. What methodology will be taken to insure the anonymity of the subjects and the confidentiality of the data (i.e., coding system, how and where data will be stored and secured, how data will be analyzed, who will have access to data, what will happen to data after the study is completed)? [Note: For security reasons, data <u>can no longer</u> be stored electronically on hard drives of laptop or desktop computers. Data must now be stored electronically only on a CD or USB memory key, and kept in a locked, secure physical site.] Researchers should retain all data collected for at least 3 years after project completion.

Protection and confidentiality will be maintained throughout the duration of the research project. No personal identifying information will be collected from participants. However, upon completion of the study, any paper information collected or utilized in the study will be kept in a locked filing cabinet in the Principal Investigator's home for three years after which time all data will be destroyed. Similarly, all electronic data will be stored on a USB memory key with access to the file protected by use of a password known only to the principal investigator. The memory key will also remain in a secured filing cabinet for three years, upon which time the data will be destroyed. 5. Any report or other work product derived from or produced as part of the project or study shall not contain any personally identifiable information.

Yes, but again, there is no personally identified information contemplated in any part of this study.

6. The Principal Researcher and/or his/her supervisor/advisor shall immediately advise the Newark Public Schools in writing if he or she learns of any unauthorized use or disclosure of any personally identifiable information. *Yes, but again, there is no personally identified information contemplated in any part of this study.*

C. Reports, Publications, Press Releases, or Statements.

7. The Organization Conducting the Project/Study ("Organization") and the Principal Researcher shall ensure that any and all reports and other publications, press releases or written or electronic statements ("Reports") issued by it or by any individual or entity working in cooperation with it or under its auspices that describe, discuss or relate in any way to NPS, its schools, students or employees, or to data maintained or kept on file by NPS, shall be provided to NPS in draft form (plainly marked "DRAFT - NOT FOR PUBLICATION" on the cover) not less than ten days in advance of publication, in order to afford NPS an opportunity to review the draft, provide comments, suggest changes and respond to stated conclusions. If the Organization, the Principal Researcher or any such individual or entity decides not to make any changes suggested by NPS, the Organization or Principal Researcher shall so inform NPS in writing, with a statement of the reasons for its decision. In such event, NPS may publish electronically or in print any comment it chooses to make about the Report, including a statement of its disagreement and the reasons therefor, and the Organization and the Principal Researcher shall ensure that reference to NPS' comment is included in any and all printed and electronic copies of the Report.

8. The Organization and the Principal Researcher shall ensure that all Reports issued by the Organization or the Principal Researcher or any individual or entity working in cooperation with them, or either of them, that describe, discuss or relate in any way to NPS, its schools, students or employees, or to data maintained or kept on file with NPS, shall include a statement acknowledging the support and cooperation of NPS and its administration, in a form approved in advance by NPS. In addition, the Organization and the Principal Researcher shall ensure that all such Reports shall state that the findings, conclusions and recommendations stated therein (except for any comment by NPS included pursuant to paragraph (a) above) belong to the Organization and/or the Principal Researcher, and that the Organization and/or Principal Researcher take sole responsibility for everything contained therein.

D. Criminal History Record Checks.

9. The Organization shall not employ or contract for paid or unpaid services of any person in a position involving regular contact with NPS students unless such person has produced satisfactory results of a criminal history record check. The Organization shall not employ any person who is, or becomes, disqualified from employment or service as a result of his or her criminal history record. The Principal Researcher shall notify NPS immediately of any notice of disqualification the Organization receives with respect to any employee, consultant or volunteer.

E. Indemnification.

10. In consideration for execution of this Research and Data-Sharing Agreement and the benefits of collaboration with NPS to be received by the Organization and the Principal Researcher (which are acknowledged to be good and valuable consideration), the Organization and Principal Research hereby agree to fully indemnify, release, protect and hold harmless NPS, its Advisory Board of Education and members thereof, the State District Superintendent, and NPS' officers, employees, agents and representatives as well as the respective heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns, of any and all of them from and against any and all losses, damages, costs, expenses, claims and liabilities (including all attorneys' fees and costs), which NPS or any of the parties listed in this paragraph may suffer or incur as a result of the willful, reckless or negligent acts, errors or omissions of the Organization, its employees or agents, including but not limited to the Principal Researcher, in connection with the project or study and the performance of their obligations under this Research and Data-Sharing Agreement.

By signing this Research and Data-Sharing Agreement, I agree to be bound by these terms and conditions, both on my own behalf and on behalf of the Organization named above, and I represent that I am authorized to do so on behalf of the Organization. I further agree that any and all individuals to whom Education Records are disclosed in the course of the project or study will be bound by these terms and conditions.

I understand and acknowledge that any breach of these terms and conditions may result in future denial of access to or disclosure of Education Records by NPS to me and/or the Organization, and that NPS also shall be entitled to any other remedies for such breach allowable by this Agreement or applicable State and Federal law.

<u> 4-30-/5</u> Date

4/30/2015

MAG Principal Researcher

Cynthia E. Samuel, Ph.D. Student IHSA Department, SHMS Seton Hall University

un

Faculty Advisor/Supervisor (if Principal Researcher is a student) Deborah A. DeLuca, MS, JD Dissertation Chair

2015

(Iners

Faculty Advisor/Supervisor (if Principal Researcher is a student) Dr. Terrence F. Cahill, Ed.D., FACHE Dissertation Committee Member and IHSA Department Chair

Date of NPS Approval: (NPS Only – Do not fill out)

SETON HALL.UNIVERSITY

January 30, 2013

Cynthia E. Samuel

Dear Ms. Samuel,

The Seton Hall University Institutional Review Board has reviewed your research proposal entitled..Exploring Relationships between School Based Health Clinics and Academic Performance in Elementary School-Age Children: A Pilot Study₀ and has categorized it as exempt

Enclosed for your records is the signed Request for Approval form.

Please note that. where applicable, subjects must sign end must be given a copy of the Seton Hall University current stamped Letter of Solicitation or Consent Fonn before the subjects' participation. All data. as well as the investigator's copies of the signed Consent Fonns, must be retained by lhc principal investigator for a period of at least three years following the termination of the project.

Should you wish to make changes to the IRB approved procedures, lhe following materials must be submitted for IRB review and be approved by the IRB prior to being in.mtuted:

- Description of proposed revisions;
- *If applicable*, any new or revised materials, such as recruitment Diers, letters to subjects, or consent documents; and
- *If applicable, updated* letters of approval from cooperating institutions and IRBs.

At the present time. there is no need for further action on your pm with the IRS.

In harmony with federal regu/aJions, none of the investigal0,-s or research staffinvolved In the study took part In the final decision.

Sin~

Mary F. Ruziclca, Ph.D. Professor Di.rector, Institutional Review Board

f.

ee: Dr. Deborah A. Deluca

Office of Inlt.1111donalReview Boud fra.ldm11 Hill • 400Soulh O-n;t Awnur • Soulh Oran^{**}. Ntw lc:nq 07079 • Ttl: 973.313.6314 • Fu: ,13.275.1361 • ...,_wi_c:du

Α	IIOME	FOH	'J"Hf	MINO.	Tiii:	111iART	AND	111E	sr1R11

Cynthia E. Samuel 48 Lord Stirling Road Parsippany, New Jersey07054

Mary F. Ruzicka, Ph.D. Professor Director, Institutional Review Board Office of the Institutional Review Board President's Hall, 4th Floor 400 South Orange Avenue South Orange, New Jersey 07079

May 4, 2015

Re: Dissertation Study: Cynthia E. Samuel

Dear Dr. Ruzicka:

Pleasefind enclosed for your file the approval letter from the Office of the State District Superintendent, Newark Public Schoolsfor my dissertation study entitled "Exploring the Relationships Between School Based Health Clinics and Academic Performance in Elementary School Aged Children."

will be greatly appreciative if you would please reactivate my IRB application for my dissertation study now that | have FINALLY received this approval to conduct my study in Newark.

look forward to receiving your approval letter so that I may submit it to Maria Orozco in Newark so that I may collect my data key and commence my dissertation research.

Thank you in advance for your kind assistance and I look forward to your soonest reply.

his Samuel

Cc: Dr. Deborah A. Deluca Dr. Terrence F. Cahill



THE NEWARK PUBLIC SCHOOLS Office of the State District Superintendent 2 Cedar Street Newark, New Jersey 07102-3091 Phone: 973-733-7333 Fax: 973-733-6834 www.nps.k12.nj.us



Cami Anderson State District Superintendent

March 27, 2015

Cynthia Samuel 48 Lord Stirling Drive Parsippany, NJ 07054

Dear Ms. Smauel,

Thank you for submitting a continuation of your research proposal as a part of the Research and Data Sharing Application Process. The final stages of your research entitled, "Exploring the Relationships Between School Based Health Clinics and Academic Performance in Elementary School Aged Children," has been reviewed and approved by the Newark Public Schools.

Please keep in mind that:

- If your project changes, and/or if data collection instruments change, you must request and receive prior approval in writing from the Newark Public Schools.
- If any terms outlined in your Research and Data Sharing Application is deemed to be violated, the Newark Public Schools has the authority to terminate this approval at any time.
- If you plan to conduct additional years of study, you are required to re-submit for review and approval.

Please sign and complete the attached student information confidentiality agreement.

Please ensure that any and all reports and other publications, press releases or written or electronic statements ("Publications") issued by you or by any individual or entity working in cooperation with you or under its auspices that describe, discuss or relate in any way to NPS, its schools, students or employees, or to data maintained or kept on file by NPS, shall be provided to NPS in draft form (plainly marked "DRAFT- NOT FOR PUBLICATION"on the cover) not less than ten days in advance of publication, in order to afford NPS an opportunity to review the draft, provide comments, suggest changes and respond to stated conclusions. If you or any such individual or entity decides not to make any changes suggested by NPS, you shall so inform NPS in writing, with a statement of the reasons for its decision. In such event, NPS may publish electronically or in print any comment it chooses to make about the Publication, including a statement of its disagreement and the reasons therefor, and you shall ensure that reference to NPS' comment is included in any and all printed and electronic copies of the Publication.

Please ensure that all Publications issued by you or any individual or entity working in cooperation with you that describe, discuss or relate in any way to NPS, its schools, students or employees, or to data maintained or kept on file with NPS, shall include a statement acknowledging the support and

@) 0002/0002



13:22 FA.I

01/29/2014

JEWISHRENAISSANCE MEDICAL CENTER, Inc.

Executive Office: 275 Hobart Street> Perth Amboy, NJ 08861 (732) 376-9333 • FIL°C (372) 293-0139 Chainnan: Darrel.I Tcny

Board ofTrustecs: Jenni Carlock Herschel M. Chomsky Sandy Mansonet-Cross Natalie Cummins Herb Gilscobcrg Judy Goldberg Sandy D. Katz Rich Loweoburg

President: Alan Goldsmith, Ph.D.

Mark Roberts

January 29, 2014

To Whom It May Concern,

Aft.er discussing the project with Ms. Samuals, I believe her dissertation to be a noteworthy project to support and improve the healthcare outcomes of children in the JRMC Newark School Based Healthcare system and the community at large.

I welcome he opportunity for her to present the completed project to the Jewish Renaissance Board of Directors.

Chief Executive fficer

Jewish Renaissance Medical Center

MR/jsv



THE NEWARK PUBLIC SCHOOLS Office of the State District Superintendent 2 Cedar Street Newark, New Jersey 07102-3091 Phone: 973-733-7333 Fax: 973-733-6834 www.nps.k12.nj.us



cooperation of NPS and its administration, in a form approved in advance by NPS. In addition, you must ensure that all such Publications shall state that the findings, conclusions and recommendations stated therein (except for any comment by NPS included pursuant to paragraph (a) above) belong to you and/or any individual or entity working in cooperation with or under your auspices, and that you and such other individual or entity take sole responsibility for everything contained therein.

Sincerely,

/)**V.~** Jl!lwda (9~

,**~**

Maria Orozco Executive Director - Dept. of Data and Policy

CC:

Gabrielle Wyatt - Executive Director, Dept. of Strategy and Innovation Dr. Marguerite Leuze, Special Assistant -Health Services and Nursing